Carl von Ossietzky

Universität Oldenburg

Masterstudiengang Biologie

MASTERARBEIT

Fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*) distribution modelling in the Nordic Seas & adjacent waters

Vorgelegt von Diandra Düngen

Externer Betreuer: Dr. Ahmed El-Gabbas Betreuender Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Helmut Hillebrand Zweiter Gutachter: Elke Burkhardt

Oldenburg, den 24.09.2019

SUMMARY

Understanding the dynamics of cetacean distribution in ecologically vulnerable regions is essential to interpret the impact of environmental changes on species ecology and ecosystem functioning. Species distribution models (SDMs) are helpful tools linking species occurrences to environmental variables in order to predict a species' potential distribution. Studies on baleen whale distribution are comparably rare in polar regions, mainly due to financial or logistic constraints and habitat suitability models are scarce. Using SDMs, this master thesis aims at identifying areas of suitable habitats for fin whales (Balaenoptera physalus) in the Nordic Seas during summer. A further aim is to identify important environmental variables that potentially drive the species' distribution. Opportunistic data were collected during ten RV Polarstern cruises from 2007 to 2018 during summer months (May to September) along with complementary opportunistic data from open source databases. Environmental covariates were chosen based on ecological relevance to the species, comprising both static and dynamic variables. MaxEnt software was used to model fin whale distribution, with presence-only data as a function of carefully chosen environmental covariates. This master thesis is one of the first studies to use SDMs to model suitable habitats of fin whales in the Arctic Ocean and revealed a link of the occurrence of fin whales to specific environmental variables. Most contributing variables were distance to shore and distance to sea ice edge, suggesting both static and dynamic variables to have an impact on habitat suitability in the Arctic Ocean. Four other environmental variables, namely bathymetry, slope, variability of sea surface temperature and mean salinity at 100 m depth were shown to also have an impact. Areas of high suitability were pronounced around the southwestern and -eastern side of Svalbard, as well as on the northern tip of Norway and southern East Greenland. These results generally demonstrate the effective use of SDMs to predict species distribution in highly remote areas, constituting a costeffective method for targeting future surveys and prioritizing the limited conservation resources. Results can be applied in a variety of purposes, such as designing marine protected areas, guiding seismic surveys and support the further use of opportunistic data in research.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Die Dynamik der Verteilung von Walen, insbesondere innerhalb ökologisch sensibler Regionen, ist essentiell um Einfluss von Umweltveränderungen auf die Ökologie der Spezies zu verstehen. Artenverteilungsmodelle, im Folgenden Species Distribution Models (SDMs) genannt, sind hilfreiche um Umweltparameter und Artenaufkommen verknüpfen zu können. Dies geschieht um räumliche (oder zeitliche) Verteilungen einer Art darzustellen. Es gibt vergleichsweise wenige Studien, die sich mit Bartenwalen in den Polarregionen befassen. Dies ist haupstächlich auf finanzielle und/oder logistische Restriktionen zurückzuführen. Auch durch die SDMs produzierten, sogenannten Habitateignungs-Modelle (Habitat Suitability Models), sind in diesen Gebieten vergleichsweise selten. Diese Masterarbeit zielt darauf ab, unter Verwendung von SDMs, geeignete Habitate für Finnwale (Balaenoptera physalus) im arktischen Sommer zu erkennen. Ein weiteres Ziel ist es, wichtige Umweltparameter, die der Verteilung der Wale zugrunde liegen, zu identifizieren. Opportunistische Daten wurden während zehn wissenschaftlichen Expeditionen der RV Polarstern, von 2007 bis 2018, innerhalb der Sommermonate (Mai bis September) erhoben. Ergänzend dazu wurden opportunistische Daten von Open Source Datenbanken verwendet. Die Umweltparameter wurden bezüglich der ökologischen Relevanz der Art ausgewählt. Sie umfassen sowohl statische, als auch dynamische Variablen. Zur Modellierung der Finnwalverteilung wurde die Software MaxEnt gewählt, wobei aussschließlich Präsenzen als Funktion der ausgewählten Umweltparameter dienten. Diese Masterarbeit ist eine der ersten Studien, welche SDMs verwendet, um geeignete Habitate in der Arktis zu modellieren. Im Verlauf dieser Studie konnte ein Zusammenhang zwischen der Verteilung von Finnwalen und spezifischen Umweltparamentern hergestellt werden. Den größten Beitrag zur Verteilung der Finnwale steuerten hierbei die Distanz zur Küste, sowie die Distanz zur Eisgrenze bei. Vier weitere Umweltparameter, Bathymetrie, Hang, Abweichung der Wasseroberflächentemperatur, sowie die Salinität in einer Tiefe von 100 Metern, hatten ebenfalls Einfluss auf die Habitateignung. Besonders geeignete Gebiete fanden sich südwestlich bis -östlich vor Spitzbergen, an der nördlichen Spitze von Norwegen und dem südlichen Ost-Grönland. Die Ergebnisse demonstrieren den effektiven Gebrauch von SDMs, um Artenverteilung in abgelegenen Gebieten voraussagen zu können und stellen somit eine erschwingliche Methode für zukünftige Untersuchungen dar. Desweiteren können sie z.B. auf die Gestaltung von Meeresschutzgebieten, die Anleitung seismischer Untersuchungen oder der Förderung des weiteren Gebrauchs opportunistischer Daten in der Wissenschaft angewendet werden.

INDEX OF FIGURES

Fig. 1: Bathymetry of the Arctic Ocean and subpolar North Atlantic derived from the ETOPO2 database in
2-minute resolution. The white contour indicates the 500 m isobaths (Source: Horn 2018) 2
Fig. 2: (a) Exemplary spatial autocorrelation ranges of the environmental variables and (b) corresponding
spatial blocks (Source: Valavi et al. 2018) 12
Fig. 3: The study area, covering N60° - N81° and W45° - E55°, including Svalbard and Iceland
Fig. 4: Correlation plot of all variables. Blue is depicting a positive, red a negative correlation, the intensity
of shading and size of the circles is indicating the intensity of correlation.Fig. 5: Spatial blocks for model versions with and without duplicates.
Fig. 6: Prediction maps of model _{duplicates} and model _{noduplicates} . Habitat suitability ranges from 0 (blue; low) to 1 (red; high)
Fig. 7: Mean prediction map of the four cross-validated folds of model _{duplicates} and the according standard
deviation. Habitat suitability ranges from 0 (blue; low) to 1 (red; high)
Fig. 8: Mean prediction map of the four cross-validated folds of model _{noduplicates} and the according standard
deviation. Habitat suitability ranges from 0 (blue; low) to 1 (red; high) 25
Fig. 9: Jackknife of regularized training gain for the full model _{duplicates} . Green indicates model performance
without respective variable, blue indicates model performance with only variable. Red indicates model performance when all variables were used
Fig. 10: Jackknife of regularized training gain for the full model _{noduplicates} . Green indicates model
performance without respective variable, blue indicates model performance with only variable. Red indicates model performance when all variables were used

INDEX OF TABLES

Table 1 : Prey sources of fin whales in different parts of the Nordic Seas 7
Table 2: Covariates, source and time frame of raw data, * indicates temporal resolution, ** spatial resolution
Table 3: Overview of transformations and VIF of final EVs used in the model, sd = standard deviation, m = mean 18
Table 4: Overview of the settings for model _{duplicates} and model _{noduplicates}
Table 5: Niche overlap (prediction congruence) between predictions of each pair of the four cross-validated models of model _{duplicates}
Table 6: Niche overlap (prediction congruence) between predictions of each pair of the four cross-validated models of the model _{noduplicates}

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	I
Zusammenfassung	II
Index of Figures	III
Index of Tables	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VI
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. The Nordic Seas Ecosystem	1
1.1.1 The Nordic Seas	2
1.1.2 Climate Change	3
1.1.3 Arctic Ecosystem	4
1.2. Mysticetes	5
1.2.1 Fin whales	6
1.3. Species Distribution Modelling	9
2. Material and Methods	. 14
2.1. Study Area	. 14
2.2. Data and Sampling Design	. 15
2.3. Environmental Variables	. 15
2.4. Modelling procedure	. 19
2.4.1. Duplicates Model (model _{duplicates})	. 20
2.4.2. Removed Duplicates Model Arguments (modelnoduplicates)	. 20
2.4.3 Visualization of predictions	. 22
3. Results	. 22
3.1 Model with duplicates (model _{duplicates})	. 23
3.2 Model without duplicates (model _{noduplicates})	. 23
3.3. Jackknife of regularized training gain	. 26
3.4 Permutation Importance	. 28
3.5 Niche Overlap	. 30
3.6 Response curves for all models	. 31
4. Discussion	. 34
4.1. Comparison to other studies	. 34
4.2. Model Performance	. 35
4.3. Potential distribution of fin whales in the Nordic Sea	. 36
4.3.1 Distance to shore	. 36
4.3.2 Distance to sea ice edge	. 37

4.3.3 Salinity	
4.3.4 Bathymetry and Slope	
4.3.5 Sea Surface Temperature	
4.3.6 Other variables	
4.4. General considerations	
4.5. Limitations	
4.6 Outlook	
Appendix	VI
REFERENCES	XI
Acknowledgment	XXXVII
Erklärung	XXXVIII

1. INTRODUCTION

Many whales, including fin whales (Balaenoptera physalus), are known to occur in high numbers in the North Atlantic Arctic throughout summer months (Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2003, Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2007, Mikkelsen et al. 2007, Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2008, Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2010, Laidre et al. 2010, Storrie et al. 2018). Unfortunately, several centuries of commercial whaling have reduced many cetacean populations to a critical level (Clapham et al. 1999, Roman and Palumbi 2003). By now, some are still endangered, while others are close to extinction (Clapham et al. 1999, Kraus et al. 2005, Schipper et al. 2008). Immense changes in abundance and distribution of large whales due to extensive hunting had significant impacts on the environment as well (Hacquebord 1999, Kruse 2016). Many of the species are recovering, though this is happening during a time of rapid environmental change so that an establishment of new distributional patterns is possible (see Storrie et al. 2018 and references therein). Furthermore, ship strikes, and alterations of prey availability are potential drivers of an observed decline in fin whale abundance in some parts of the North Atlantic (Schleimer et al. 2019). The investigation of cetacean habitat use and underlying oceanographic factors therefore is of particular importance. Especially due to baleen whales specialized diets (e.g. blue whales (Balaenoptera musculus)) and foraging strategies (such as in minke (Balaenoptera acutorostrata) or humpback whales (Megaptera *novaeangliae*)), rorqual whales may have a lower capacity for adaptation (Hain et al. 1982, Lynas and Sylvestre 1988, Hoelzel et al. 1989, Weinrich et al. 1992). They could, therefore, be more vulnerable to anthropogenic changes in the marine environment than other species (Kovacs and Lydersen 2008). In that sense, it is important to understand the relationship between whales and their environment at various temporal and spatial scales to assess potential ecosystem-level effects in response to changing environmental conditions (Hátún et al. 2009).

1.1. The Nordic Seas Ecosystem

The Arctic is a Mediterranean Ocean, consisting mainly of the Arctic Ocean and the Nordic Seas. It covers the main parts of the Barents-, Greenland- and Norwegian Sea (Fig. 1).

1.1.1 The Nordic Seas

The Arctic Ocean is the northernmost part of the Arctic, while the Nordic Seas comprise the southward connecting Greenland-, Norwegian- and Iceland Seas (Loeng and Drinkwater 2007, Campos and Horn 2018). The Arctic Ocean and Nordic Seas are connected via Fram Strait and the Barents Sea (Fig. 1) (Ingvaldsen and Leong 2009, Campos and Horn 2018). The Barents Sea, covering most of the study area, is a shelf sea with high productivity, low biological diversity and strong species interactions (Wassmann et al. 2006). As largely enclosed ocean, only two water masses enter from other oceans, the cooler, low-salinity Pacific Water and the warmer, high-salinity Atlantic Water. The Arctic Front separates Arctic from Atlantic Water, while the more northwestward Polar Front separates Polar and Arctic Waters, being a mixture of Atlantic and Arctic Water (Loeng and Drinkwater 2007, Ingvaldsen and Loeng 2009).



Fig. 1: Bathymetry of the Arctic Ocean and subpolar North Atlantic derived from the ETOPO2 database in 2-minute resolution. The white contour indicates the 500 m isobaths (Source: Horn 2018).

The Arctic has several unique physical characteristics amongst which are strong seasonality in light (large variations in light levels, with up to 24 hours of sunlight in summer and darkness in winter), cold overall temperatures with winter extremes, and the presence of extensive shelf seas around a deep central ocean basin (Loeng and Drinkwater 2007, Kovacs et al. 2011). Of particular importance is the accumulation of large biomass – total mean annual primary production rate is 80 to 90 g C / m^2 – either through seasonally restricted and intense blooms or by local accumulation of biomass through advection at the Arctic continental shelves (Loeng and Drinkwater 2007, Laidre et al. 2010). With the annual retreat of winter sea ice, an enormous phytoplankton bloom is triggered based on drastic increases in sunlight, which by retreat of the ice sheet reaches the sea surface. This results in high densities of zooplankton and lower trophic level foraging fish, which again attracts large numbers of top marine predators (Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2007). Seasonal sea ice in the Barents Sea typically forms in March / April (max. coverage) (Loeng and Drinkwater 2007). Main currents in the Arctic run eastwards across the southern part of the Barents Sea, while in the northern parts, they run westwards (Ingvaldsen and Leong 2009, Wekerle et al. 2017). The North Atlantic Current splits into two branches, one entering the Arctic Ocean through the Barents Sea (North Cape Current), the other through Fram Strait (West Spitsbergen Current) (Wekerle et al. 2017, Campus and Horn 2018).

1.1.2 Climate Change

Climate in the Arctic is highly dynamic, affecting many aspects of this ecosystem. The warming atmosphere supports an early sea ice melt during summer and inhibits sea ice formation during winter, which leads to an overall reduced sea ice coverage and thus a reduced albedo (Pistone et al. 2014). This consequently leads to an increase in absorption of solar radiation, which again provides extra heat to the ocean that can initiate sea ice melt from below (Horn 2018). Besides this positive feedback loop, sea ice retreating earlier in spring and advancing later in fall leads to longer summers (Laidre et al. 2015). In the Greenland- and Barents Sea (and many other parts of the Arctic), the time of fall sea ice is negatively correlated with the time of spring ice retreat (Laidre et al. 2015). The recent loss rate of Arctic sea ice is even faster than predicted by climate models (Stroeve et al. 2012), where summer sea ice extent has decreased by more than 40 % in recent decades (Overland and Wang 2013). Beyond that, sea ice loss is most likely to continue for several decades, even if emissions of greenhouse gases were limited immediately (Overland and Wang 2013).

Changes in temperature and decreasing sea ice coverage are expected to cause changes in productivity and energy cascades throughout the ecosystem (Parkinson et al. 1999, Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2007), eventually affecting cetaceans depending on this region (Derville et al. 2019). The decrease in sea ice coverage will most likely further increase anthropogenic activities in polar regions, as sea ice has previously been one of the limiting factors for accessing high latitudes (Gjosaeter et al. 2009). Already, anthropogenic activities have increased in West Greenland, including oil-, gas- and mineral exploration as well as tourism and whaling (Gjosaeter et al. 2009, Simon et al. 2010). This can affect fin whales, as they are the most commonly reported species to be involved in vessel collisions (Schleimer et al. 2019 and references therein).

1.1.3 Arctic Ecosystem

The Nordic Seas are home to a variety of species. Fish composition in the Norwegian Sea is dominated by pelagic species such as herring (Clupea harengus) and blue whiting (Micromesistius poutassou), whereas in the Barents Sea pelagic species (e.g. capelin, herring and Arctic cod (Boreogadus saida) and demersal species (like Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) and haddock (Melanogrammus aeglefinus)) occur (Loeng and Drinkwater, 2007). Zooplankton community is dominated by copepods, mainly Calanus spp., but other important zooplankters also exist, including amphipods (especially Themisto spp.) and euphausiids (e.g. Thysanoessa spp. in the Barents Sea and Meganyctiphanes spp. in the Norwegian Sea) (Melle et al. 2004). In the Norwegian Sea, Rey (2004) has provided a detailed description of the seasonal cycle of phytoplankton with low primary production in winter and early spring, and a homogeneous distribution of nutrients (Rey and Loeng 1985): Within this period, phytoplankton communities are mainly composed of small flagellates. When sea ice retreats in spring (March / April) and light levels and concentrations of nitrate increase, primary production is initiated. With the increase in stratification in May, diatom blooms develop. Chlorophyll levels tend to stay low due to zooplankton grazers and production decreases by summer. Due to wind mixing, small blooms still occur until autumn, though by October declining light levels finally limit primary production (Rey 2004). For the Barents Sea, processes seem to be similar, though time-lagged (Rey and Loeng 1985, Loeng and Drinkwater 2007). It is a home for a variety of resident marine mammal species, including polar bear (Ursus maritimus), seven pinniped- and five cetacean species (Kovacs et al. 2009). Additional to these residents, eight cetacean species migrate regularly to the Barents Sea (Kovacs et al. 2009).

Marine mammals in the Barents Sea display high diversity in distributional patterns: while some are associated with sea ice most of the year, others prefer pelagic, open waters (Kovacs et al. 2009). Then again, others are confined to the more temperate and shallow coastal waters (Kovacs et al. 2009). Arctic shelf regions are important to top marine predators, which are (seasonally) seeking abundant food resources in this region. Some marine mammals, such as ringed seals (Phoca hispida), Atlantic walrus (Odobenus rosmarus rosmarus) and polar bears rely on sea ice for several reasons and are, therefore, directly related to sea ice conditions (Weslawski et al. 1988, Jay and Fischbach 2008, Freitas et al. 2009). As a result, there is potential for dramatic ecosystem shifts given the observed reduction in sea ice coverage, ice thickness, extent, and duration, as well as changes in current patterns and temperature due to climate change (Carmack and Wassmann 2006). These physical changes alter biota in Arctic regions such as Svalbard, e.g. with boreal invertebrate and fish species displacing native Arctic species (Loeng and Drinkwater 2007, Fossheim et al. 2015, Dalpadado 2016, Gluchowska et al. 2016). Furthermore, the Arctic marine food web structure is altered by a general poleward shift of boreal generalists (Kortsch et al. 2015). The distribution of several fish species that are of importance for cetaceans such as the fin whale, is influenced by climate variability: e.g. cod, herring and blue whiting distribution shifts northward during extended warm periods and southward during cooler periods (Gjosaeter et al. 2009). The increase in primary (and secondary) production that goes hand in hand with climate change leads to an increased fish production through higher abundance and improved growing rates (Overholtz and Nicolas 1979, Payne et al. 1990, Loeng and Drinkwater 2007). During the past 30 years, substantial changes regarding prey sources have occurred in the Barents Sea, amongst others tremendous rises and falls of capelin and herring, the predominant pelagic shoaling fish in the area (Gjosaeter et al. 2009, Kovacs et al. 2009).

1.2. Mysticetes

The Mysticetes comprise three families: Balaenidae (the right whales), Eschrichtiidae (gray whales) and Balaenopteridae (rorqual whales). Each family employs a distinct feeding method of the type of suspension feeding and are specifically categorized as filter-, suction- or raptorial feeders (Werth 2000). Fin whales belong to the family Balaenopteridae. Compared to their body size, balaenopterids are rather shallow divers (Gaskin 1982, Hamilton et al. 1997, Panigada et al. 1999).

They grow up to 30 meters in length, with the up to 24 m fin whale being the second largest and fastest cetacean (Katona et al. 1993). In order to feed effectively, rorqual whales engulf large quantities of dense food patches - a method that is called gulping or ram filter-feeding (Bowen and Siniff 1999, Werth 2000, Kimura 2004). They filter prey out of the water using baleen, which are attached to the upper jaw (Wells et al. 1999). These vary in length, thickness and narrowness according to species. The anatomy features a fusiform body, with parallel running ventral throat grooves and a muscular, specialized tongue that enables gulping large quantities of prey (Lambertsen 1983, Orton and Brodie 1987, Hoelzel et al. 1989, Bowen and Siniff 1999). Prey abundant water masses are engulfed through rapid gulps and lunges after which the water is expelled while prey is held back by the baleen (Bowen and Siniff 1999, Werth 2000). Seasonal and annual variations in prey densities seem to play an important role in the aggregation of baleen whales and their foraging profitability (Piatt and Methven, 1992), as feeding is thought to be restricted to seasons and usually latitude-dependent (Clapham 2000, Stern 2009). Despite this, recent observations suggest that Mysticetes also forage during migration (Geijer et al. 2016 and references therein, Owen et al. 2017). Silva et al. (2019) provide strong hints that North Atlantic fin whales, migrating through central Atlantic waters, feed during winter or early spring in tropical and subtropical waters and that this strategy is more prevalent among migratory whales than is currently acknowledged. Further, feeding in winter appears common among the North Atlantic fin whales and may play a crucial role in determining their winter distribution (Silva et al. 2019). Mysticetes feed on comparatively small prey, hence they need to address high densities of prey: It has been estimated that 1-2 tons of zooplankton per day has to be ingested in order to meet energetic requirements (Kenney et al. 1986). Prey densities above a certain threshold are thought to be required to facilitate efficient foraging (Piatt and Methven 1992). Within feeding grounds, their high mobility allows the active search for the most food abundant areas and/or the highest prey patch densities (Wells et al. 1999).

1.2.1 Fin whales

Fin whales are the fastest swimmers among all whales and are believed to be the deepest diving species of all Mysticetes (Bérubé and Aguilar 1998, Panigada et al. 1999). Morphologically striking features include the asymmetric coloration of the head, dark coloration on the left anterior third of the body and baleen, and white coloration on the right lower jaw.

The right anterior part of the body is less heavily pigmented than the left part (Tershy and Wiley 1992, Aguilar 2009). Group sizes can vary, though usually fin whales occur singly or in pairs (Edds and Macfarlane 1987). Fin whales are considered opportunistic feeders, foraging on krill and pelagic fish, potentially varying preferences according to prey availability (see Table 1 for details). However, considerable variations in feeding activity were found, depending on locality, time of the season, and prey species (Nemoto 1957, 1959).

Region	Prey Items	Source
North Atlantic	Sand lance (Ammodytes americanus), capelin and krill	Overholtz and Nicolas 1979
Iceland and adjacent waters	Krill (<i>Meganyctiphanes norvegica</i>), capelin, sand eel (<i>Ammodytes</i> spp.), blue whiting	Rörvik et al. 1986, Sigurjónsson and Víkingsson 1997
Antarctic	Mature krill (Euphausia superba)	Santora et al. 2010
Barents Sea	Krill, amphipods (<i>Themisto</i> spp.), Arctic cod, blue whiting	Skern-Mauritzen et al. 2011
Norwegian Sea	Krill, amphipods, herring, blue whiting, capelin	Nottestad et al. 2014 (and references therein)

Table 1: Prey sources of fin whales in different parts of the Nordic Seas

Fin whales utilize an energetically expensive strategy of lunge feeding at depth upon encounters with suitable densities of prey (Croll et al. 2001, Acevedo-Gutierrez et al. 2002, Simard et al. 2002, Croll et al. 2005, Goldbogen et al. 2006, 2007). There might be two scale-dependent foraging strategies of fin whales in summer: the large-scale site fidelity for the persistent area of krill habitat or, at the mesoscale, the search for the most concentrated food areas characterized by high dynamics of oceanographic processes (Cotté et al. 2009). Fin whales are thought to feed in depths of 100 to 200 meters (Katona et al. 1993) and are known to regularly return to traditional feeding grounds over many years, though winter breeding grounds have not been identified yet (Aguilar 2009). Observations of fin whales together with high prey densities support conclusions from previous satellite tracking studies that fin whales move into high latitudes to feed (Heide Jørgensen et al. 2003), which is consistent with prior findings (Stevick et al. 2008). There has been evidence that some individuals stay throughout December (Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2003, Simon 2010) rather than only visiting in summer.

In the Barents Sea, fin whales were shown to inhabit southern areas in early summer but not later in the season, clearly demonstrating a seasonal shift in their distribution (Haug et al. 2002, Skern-Mauritzen et al. 2011). Further findings suggest changes in body fattening in Icelandic waters, potentially related to food availability (Lockyer 1986). Several environmental factors have been put into context with the occurrence of fin whales, including primary productivity, bathymetry, sea surface temperature and sea surface height (Forcada et al. 1996, Littaye 2004, Sirovic et al. 2004, Laran and Gannier 2008, Panigada et al. 2008, Sirovic et al. 2009, Stafford et al. 2009, Azzellino et al. 2012, Druon et al. 2012, Breen et al. 2016, Zerbini et al. 2016, Prieto et al. 2017). Recently, Iceland established a new, increased catch quota for fin whales, which has been set to 209 individuals and may pose a risk to these stocks¹. Despite the initial recovery from historical whaling, models predict considerable declines in Atlantic fin whale stocks, as well as local extinctions by 2100 (Tulloch et al. 2018, 2019). Stocks of fin whales in Arctic waters are not comprehensively calculated, though a considerable amount of studies exists on stocks of different parts of the study area, amongst which there are Iceland, Norway and Jan Mayen, as well as Greenland and the Faroes (Pike et al. 2005, Vikingsson et al. 2009, Vikingsson et al. 2015). There seem to be at least 25,000 to 30,000 fin whales in the North Atlantic (Kovacs et al. 2009). It has been reported that the number of fin whales in the North Atlantic has steadily increased in the past years and potentially has already recovered by 2000, though it is unclear if this is due to recovery from past whaling or favorable environmental changes (Víkingsson et al. 2015). Fin whales, like many other cetaceans, cover a wide range on foraging grounds, as their distribution is predominantly governed by prey availability (Kovacs et al. 2009). As the impact of climate change on fin whales will likely occur via changes to their prey, it is important to monitor and model their distribution in the study area to guide appropriate conservational measures. It has been hypothesized that, as marine productivity increases with the progressing loss of seasonal sea ice cover, a northward spread of cetacean species from more temperate waters to Svalbard and the northern Barents Sea can be expected, as has been shown for grey whales (Moore et al. 2003, Kovacs et al. 2009). Changes in fish, benthos and primary production in the study area have already been detected and described (Moore et al. 2003, Overland et al. 2004, Qu et al. 2006, Arrigo et al. 2008).

¹ www.phys.org/news/2019-02-iceland-whaling-quotas-falling-profits.html

1.3. Species Distribution Modelling

One major challenge to predict patterns of species occurrence is to identify mechanisms leading to the presence of a species in a specific spatial and temporal dimension (Verity et al. 2002). Species distribution modelling (SDM), also known as environmental niche modelling (ENM), can be a helpful tool that links the occurrence of certain species to environmental variables and then provides insight into potential species' distribution. SDMs are statistical tools that estimate the relationship between species occurrences at field sites and the environmental characteristics of those sites (Franklin 2010). This is especially helpful in remote and limited-access areas, such as the polar oceans. One of the approaches commonly used to describe habitat requirements of a species, is by fitting niche- or distribution models and to use these to identify the potential distribution of the respective species by projecting onto geographical space (Robinson et al. 2011, Tyberghein et al. 2012). There are different approaches to model species distribution, including correlative (Pearson and Dawson 2003), coupled correlative and process-based models (Smolik et al. 2010), as well as mechanistic approaches (Kearney and Porter 2009). Correlative SDMs relate species occurrence data (presence-only or presence-absence) with environmental data of a specific area to explain and predict the species' distribution. In contrast, mechanistic approaches use the physiological characteristic of a species to determine the range of environmental conditions within which the species can persist (Kearney and Porter 2009). Both approaches comprise the Grinnellian understanding of "environmental niche", assuming the observed distribution of a species to be governed by its abiotic preferences, food requirements and/or microhabitat characteristics (Grinnell 1904). These approaches also vary in the kind of required data. In surveys, where sites are systematically researched and presence-absence or abundance of species is recorded, regression methods and their extensions, such as generalized linear models (GLMs), generalized additive models (GAMs) or regression trees may be used (Elith et al. 2011). For many regions though, such systematic surveys are not applicable, and accurate absence or abundance data cannot be obtained. Depending on the species, absences are not easily determined (Wintle et al. 2015). In such cases, species occurrence data are often available in the form of opportunistic presence-only records in museum databases and online repositories (e.g. GBIF or PANGAEA)² (Elith et al. 2011). Advantages of presence-only (or presence-background) records are the relatively easy accessibility compared to presence-absence or abundance data (Elith et al. 2006).

²https://www.pangaea.de/, https://www.gbif.org/

Intent and methods of presence-only data are often unknown though, leading to potential biases (Hijmans et al. 2000, Reese et al. 2005, Elith et al. 2006). Due to sampling design, taking account of potential bias is important. Here, duplicates were removed in order to avoid spatial sampling bias (Fourcade et al. 2012, El-Gabbas and Dormann 2018). Presence-only models are commonly implemented in terrestrial habitats, where their use has gained much intension over past years, whereas SDMs of marine species are comparatively rare, though interest in their application has increased (Redfern et al. 2006, Valavanis et al. 2008, Robinson et al. 2011). Potentially, the comparably easy access to satellite data, which are often the basis of environmental data, lead to an increased use of SDMs (Palialexis et al. 2011). Many novel modelling methods have been proposed to be applied to marine species (see Palialexis et al. 2011 and references therein). A few methods that use presence-only data exist, amongst which there is MaxEnt (Phillips et al. 2006, Phillips and Dudik 2008). MaxEnt estimates the most uniform distribution of the species, by contrasting the sampling points against many background locations randomly sampled from the study area, with implementation of some constraints (Phillips et al. 2004, Phillips et al. 2006). It takes a list of species presences (locations) as input, as well as a set of environmental variables (e.g. salinity or temperature) across a user-defined geographical space, which is divided into grid cells. MaxEnt extracts a sample of background locations (where presences are unknown), which then are contrasted against the presence locations (Merow et al. 2013). The probability distribution of the species is estimated in terms of maximum entropy, which is the distribution that is closest to uniform across the study area (Phillips et al. 2006). Environmental variables (or predictor variables or covariates; hereafter: "EVs") are independent factors that can describe niche requirements of a species can be relevant to habitat suitability (e.g. temperature, bathymetry). The selection of environmental variables is based on *a priori* knowledge of the important ecological drivers of the focal species (Austin 2007). Often, the final choice of environmental variables is governed by their availability,--and collinearity (Bombosch 2013, Zeng et al. 2016). Collinearity often leads to overfitted models, so good practise is to remove correlated variables in the modeling process (Zuur et al. 2010). Since becoming available in 2004, the use of MaxEnt has grown extensively for modelling species distributions (Elith et al. 2011) and it became open source in 2017 (Phillips et al. 2017). It has become a popular tool for studying species distribution, because it is user-friendly, while at the same time its predictive performance is consistently competitive with the highest performing methods and even outperforms other methods in predictive accuracy (Elith et al. 2006, Merow et al. 2013).

According to Austin (2002), it is desirable to fit nonlinear functions, as species responses to environmental variables tend to be complex. This can be achieved by applying transformations of the environmental covariates, which are called features in Maxent (Elith et al. 2011, Merow 2013). MaxEnt's feature classes (FC) are linear (L), product (P), quadratic (Q), hinge (H), threshold (T), and categorical. According to Merow (2013) the definition of each feature class can be depicted as follows: 'Linear' represents the original EVs and constrains their mean, while 'quadratic' additionally constrains the variance of the environmental variables. 'Product' works as an interaction between pair wise combinations of EVs, where the covariances are constrained, when 'linear' is also used. 'Threshold' works as a step function, which is produced between each successive pair of data points. 'Hinge' works similar as 'threshold', though linear above the threshold value (Merow 2013). The FCs role reflects in the response curves, which plot the predicted relative occurrence rate against the values of a particular EV, thereby providing an important tool for evaluation (Merow et al. 2013). Response curves further aid in visualizing the model output and importance of environmental variables. To be concrete, they show the relationship between the occurrence habitat suitability and the EV. For each plot, the response is modelled for one EV, while the other EVs are held constant at their mean values at training presences³. By default, MaxEnt uses the number of presences to determine which feature classes to use, while more presences allow more features. An input of > 80 presences leads to all feature classes being used (Merow et al. 2013). This leads to limitations, though the user can also specify the feature classes manually (Merow et al. 2013).

Model performance can be assessed in several ways, amongst which are the value of the area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve (AUC). As a statistic assessment method for the discriminatory capacity of SDMs it is widely used (Jiménez-Valverde 2011). The AUC value enables the evaluation of model performance (Jiménez-Valverde 2011). In SDMs with presenceabsence data, a value of 0.5 indicates that the model does not perform better than random, while a value closer to 1.0 indicates good model performance (Jiménez-Valverde 2011). When used without absences, the ROC plot is modified (see Jiménez-Valverde 2011 and references therein), models may still be assessed according to their AUC, in general the higher the better (Phillips et al. 2006). When the potential distribution of a species is the goal of the study, the AUC was suggested being a rather inappropriate performance measure, as weight of commission errors is

³ https://support.bccvl.org.au/support/solutions/articles/6000127046-interpretation-of-model-outputs

much lower than that of omission errors (Jiménez-Valverde 2011). Cross-validation is another method to evaluate the predictive performance of models, especially in situations in which an independent evaluation dataset is not available. Data can be partitioned into k folds, using one fold for testing and remaining folds (k-1) for fitting the model (Valavi et al. 2018 and references therein). This process is iterated until all folds were used for testing. However, non-spatial cross-validation does not ensure the spatial independence between training and testing dataset: training and dataset can be very close to each other (Dr. Ahmed El-Gabbas, personal communication). Concerning this matter, an attractive evaluation method is spatial block cross-validation, which enables spatially independent model evaluation (Valavi et al. 2018). Spatial blocks are geographical units, in which species and environmental data are treated together either for model training or testing (Fig. 2). Several blocks may be allocated to one cross-validation fold (Valavi et al. 2018). Spatial block cross-validation further enables accounting for spatial autocorrelation. As spatial autocorrelation is a measurement of correlation of observations between nearby locations and can negatively impact the model output, it is important to account for it (Moran 1950, Valavi et al. 2018).



Fig. 2: (a) Exemplary spatial autocorrelation ranges of the environmental variables and (b) corresponding spatial blocks (Source: Valavi et al. 2018).

MaxEnt provides tools to assess the relative importance of environmental variables used to train the model, including Jackknifing and permutation importance (PI). Jackknifing is used to assess the relative importance of each EV by fitting two sets of models: 1) models run using all environmental variables, except each environmental variable in turn; 2) models run exclusively using each of the variables alone (Brown 2004, Robinson et al. 2011). Comparing AUC / training gain values amongst these two sets of models indicates variable importance. Values based on models run with a single environmental variable ("with only variable") indicate the predictive power/model performance of using this variable, whereas values for models run without this variable ("without variable") indicate its relative importance. To calculate permutation importance, MaxEnt iteratively shuffles values of each environmental variable at presence and background locations, then models are re-run and re-evaluated. Changes in training AUC, compared to the AUC of the original model, is used to indicate the relative importance of each EV. A decrease in AUC indicates the higher relative importance of the variable, while an increased AUC indicates that the variable is rather unimportant (Phillips et al. 2006).

1.4. Aim of the thesis

In past years, SDMs have become a popular tool for studying the spatial distribution patterns and ecology of animal and plant species (Elith et al. 2006, Redfern et al. 2006, Dormann et al. 2010 & 2011), while studies on marine species are increasing (Kaschner et al. 2006, Reiss et al. 2011, Bombosch et al. 2014, Schleimer et al. 2019). To guide conservation actions effectively, using SDMs has been recommended (Guisan et al. 2013), e.g. for monitoring biological invasions, identification of critical habitats for endangered species and more (Borja et al. 2014). This master thesis aims at identifying areas of suitable fin whale habitats in the Nordic Seas summer, by singling out which environmental variables are driving its observed distribution. Comparably few species distribution studies include data from polar regions (e.g. Zerbini et al. 2006, Bombosch et al. 2014, Nottestad et al. 2014, Zerbini et al. 2016, Prieto et al. 2017, Storrie et al. 2018) and this is one of the first studies to use SDMs to model suitable habitats of fin whales in the Arctic Ocean. By using SDMs, I will point out which areas, other than observed, might be suitable for fin whales, discuss underlying potential reasons and evaluate how potential threats can influence the distribution of fin whales in the Arctic. I further emphasize important environmental variables that potentially drive the distribution of the species or at least are important for habitat suitability.

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1. Study Area

The study area encompasses the Nordic Seas with a spatial extent from N60° to N81° and W45° to E55°, covering main parts of the Greenland-, Norwegian- and the Barents Sea (Fig. 1). The Baltic Sea was left out of the analysis, as fin whales are not native to these waters and the ecosystem differs significantly from the rest of the study area (see Fig. 3). The study area was mainly determined by inspecting fin whale distributional data available (see below), with a buffering area around available sightings. Models were calibrated at an equal-area projection, as if covariate grids were unprojected, a region covering a larger range in latitude of e.g. > 200 km, would have grid cells of varying areas (Elith et al. 2011). This happens especially away from the equator and must be avoided as MaxEnt implicitly assumes equal area cells, when randomly sampling cells (Elith et al. 2011). Optimum projection for the study area was determined using the project wizard tool (Savric et al. 2016)⁴: Polar Lambert azimuthal equal-area projection WGS 1984: EPSG 8326 with a central meridian of 005° 00' E. I used a grid cell size of 100 km² (10 x 10 km) to run the models due the large size of the study area. Further, this resolution seems to be suitable for the high mobility of the species. Land area and the Baltic Sea were masked out from study area, yielding a total of 51595 cells (area in blue in Fig. 3). All species occurrences and EVs were identically projected.



Fig. 3: The study area, covering N60° - N81° and W45° - E55°, including Svalbard and Iceland

⁴ http://projectionwizard.org

2.2. Data and Sampling Design

Opportunistic sightings were collected from available data sources: RV Polarstern cruises⁵ (unpublished), GBIF (Global Biodiversity Information Facility)⁶ and iOBIS (Ocean Biogeographic Information System)⁷. Only occurrences between 2004 and 2018 and from an extended definition of summer (May to September) were selected, as summer is the main feeding season of fin whales in the region. Yearly time span was determined according to availability of the Polarstern sighting data. Polarstern data were collected from 27 multidisciplinary research cruises to the Arctic from 2007 to 2018, but with an intermission in data acquisition between 2009 and 2011. Identification of cetaceans was conducted by several nautical officers, and sightings with date and group size were recorded systematically and electronically using 'WALOG software' developed by AWI (WALOG vers. 1.3) (Burkhardt 2009). Species were identified to the lowest taxonomic level possible (ranging from species level to "unidentified whale"), associated with a certainty level of identification. Occurrence position was recorded as the position of the vessel at the time of observation. Sightings are considered opportunistic, as no dedicated sighting effort was taken, and no dedicated survey design was implemented. The GBIF data were downloaded from the GBIF website at the desired time span (months/years) and study area extent. Similarly, the iOBIS data were downloaded using robis R-package (Provoost and Bosch 2019). Before running models, sighting data were plotted and occurrences outside of the study area or erroneous (e.g. on land) were removed. After thorough quality control, a total of 1,229 unique sightings remained.

2.3. Environmental Variables

Potential environmental variables were determined based on their ecological relevance for fin whales and their availability (Woodley and Gaskin 1996, Panigada et al. 2008, Druon et al. 2012, Duengen et al. 2018). Initial dynamic variables encompass chlorophyll-a concentration (mean and standard deviation 'sd'), temperature and salinity at surface and 100 m depth (mean and sd), sea ice concentration (mean and sd), and velocity & sea surface height (mean and sd). Mean and sd represents per grid cell statistically calculated values for the period from 2004 to 2018 and from May to September, when possible (see Table 2 for details).

⁵ https://www.pangaea.de/expeditions/cr.php/Polarstern

⁶ www.gbif.org; access date: 01/30/2019

⁷ https://obis.org; access date: 07/09/2019

Static environmental variables include bathymetry, slope, aspect and distance to shore, sea ice edge and isobaths (100 m, 200 m and 500 m). In total, 24 environmental layers were prepared at a consistent projection, extent and resolution to be ready to be used by MaxEnt, using ArcGIS (ArcMap 10.6.1, ESRI), QGIS (Version 3.4.5, QGIS Development Team) and R (R Development Core Team 2008). Environmental layers were projected into an equal area projection of Polar Lambert azimuthal equal-area proj.4 of WGS 1984: EPSG 8326 with a central meridian of 005° 00' E (Budic et al. 2015), using spTransform function of raster R-package (Hijmans 2019). For dynamic EVs, standard deviation and climatological mean were calculated for five months (May to September) over the respective (available) amount of years. While for sea ice concentration there was a data gap between May and June 2012, averaged sea ice data for 2012 was based upon July to September data only. Values of grid cells with missing environmental data were interpolated using "Kriging" tool in ArcGIS. Layers were first transformed into points "Raster to Points", then kriging was implemented with a search radius range between 60,000 and 400,000 m, using a minimum of eight points. Distance to isobaths and shore were calculated using the "Contour" and "Near" tools in ArcGIS, based on bathymetry. In the settings, the default method "planar" was selected. For the distance to sea ice edge, the ice edge was determined as the major polygon that encompass grid cells with >15% sea ice concentration (Meier and Stroeve 2008 and references therein, Spreen et al. 2008). Values for grid cells intersected with the ice edge line were assigned 0, while grid cells with sea ice concentration < 15% (outside the ice edge) were assigned positive values and grid cells with sea ice concentration > 15% (inside the ice edge) were assigned negative values (Williams et al. 2014). Some grid cells close to land had conspicuous sea ice concentration values, which is termed "land-spillover" or "land contamination of water pixels" (Dr Marcus Huntemann, personal communication, Markus and Cavalieri 2009). To avoid the influence of spurious value of sea ice close to land, a buffer of two grid cells was applied and values at these grid cells were re-estimated using Kriging. Many of the static variables were obtained from the general bathymetric chart of the oceans (GEBCO)⁸, which provides publicly available bathymetry data of the world's oceans. Temperature and salinity data were obtained by the world ocean atlas (WOA) A5B7⁷ dataset (Boyer et al. 2018). A5B7 refers to the time span 2005 – 2017 and includes a global coverage of Argo floats from 2005. Chlorophyll-a data were obtained from Ocean Color CCI⁵ (Sathyendranath et al. 2018).

⁸ <u>https://www.gebco.net/</u>

Covariate	Unit	Statistic	Time	Resolution	Source
			Frame		
Aspect	0			30-arc-sec**	GEBCO ⁸
Bathymetry	М			30-arc-sec**	GEBCO ⁸
Chlorophyll a	mg / m ³	sd	2004 - 2018	8-day composite*	OCCI ⁹
Distance to SIE	Km		2004 - 2018	6.25 km**	AMSR2 ¹⁰ calculation
Distance to Shore	Km			30-arc-sec**	GEBCO ⁸
Distance to Isobath 500	Km			30-arc-sec**	GEBCO ⁸
Salinity (0, 100 m)	unitless	mean, sd	2005 - 2017	0.25 x 0.25°**	WOA A5B7 ¹²
Sea Ice Concentration	%	mean	2004 - 2018	6.25 km**	AMSR2
Sea Surface Height	М	sd	2004 - 2018	0.25 x 0.25°**	COPERNICUS ¹¹
Slope	0			30-arc-sec**	GEBCO ⁸
Temperature (0, 100 m)	°C	sd	2005 - 2017	0.25 x 0.25°**	WOA A5B7 ¹²
Velocity	m/s	mean	2004 - 2018	0.25 x 0.25°**	COPERNICUS ⁶ , calculation

Table 2: Covariates, source and time frame of raw data, * indicates temporal resolution, ** spatial resolution

Box-Cox Transformations

To maximize uniformity and obtain normal distribution of variables, potential variable transformations were checked using box-cox transformations (Box and Cox 1964), following Dormann and Kaschner (2010). Accepted transformations that have improved the distribution of variables were distance to 500 m isobath, sea surface salinity (sd), sea surface height (sd), temperature at 100 m depth (sd) and velocity (mean) (Table 3). Transformations of other variables did not improve their distribution and were therefore not implemented.

⁹ https://esa-oceancolour-cci.org/

¹⁰ https://seaice.uni-bremen.de/

¹¹ http://marine.copernicus.eu/services-portfolio/access-to-

products/?option=com_csw&view=details&product_id=SEALEVEL_GLO_PHY_L4_REP_OBSERVATIONS_008_047 ¹² https://www.nodc.noaa.gov/OC5/indprod.html

Tests for Multicollinearity

Multicollinearity, the strong correlation between two or more predictor variables, can cause instability in parameter estimation and affect model predictions (Graham 2003, Dormann et al. 2013), then the least correlated variables should only be used. Only candidate variables with a variance inflation factor (VIF) of <4 were included in the analysis to avoid collinearity, following Zuur et al. (2009). This led to the rejection of nine out of 24 variables. Further, the correlation coefficient between the filtered variables (with VIF <4) was calculated to examine other potential correlation problems. One variable (distance to 200 m isobath) was found to cause correlation issues (correlation coefficient > 0.7) and hence was removed from the analysis. Three environmental variables (mean temperature at 0 and 100 m depth and sd of sea ice concentration) were, based on literature research, expected to be of ecological importance to the species, and were consequently forced in after the removal of highly correlating variables. Since these three candidate variables were still causing collinearity problems, they were excluding from the analysis. In total, nine variables were excluded due to multicollinearity, which resulted in 14 variables to be used in the model (Table 2 and 3, Fig. 4).

Variable	Abbreviation	Transformation	VIF
Aspect	Aspect		1.06
Bathymetry	Bathy		3.27
Chlorophyll a sd	ChlaSTD		1.38
Distance to Sea Ice Edge	Dist2Ice		2.59
Distance to Isobath 500	Dist2Iso500SQRT	square root	3.53
Distance to Shore	Dist2Shore		2.82
Salinity 0 sd	Sal0STDlog	log	2.63
Salinity 100 m	Sal100mean		2.18
SIC m	SICmean		2.64
Slope	Slope		1.17
SSH sd	SSHSTD1BY	inverse	3.28
Temp 0 sd	Temp0std		3.00
Temp 100 sd	Temp100STDlog	log	1.80
Velocity m	VelocityMeanLog	log	2.07

Table 3: Overview of transformations and VIF of final EVs used in the model, sd = standard deviation, m = mean



Fig. 4: Correlation plot of all variables. Blue is depicting a positive, red a negative correlation, the intensity of shading and size of the circles is indicating the intensity of correlation.

2.4. Modelling procedure

Models were fit using the software MaxEnt v3.4.1 (Philipps et al. 2006, Dudik 2007) available at http://www.cs.princeton.edu/~schapire/maxent. Two modelling approaches were implemented. First, without accounting for sampling bias: duplicated occurrences in each grid were allowed (model_{duplicates}). Second, to correct for sampling bias, duplicated occurrences in each grid were removed before running the model (model_{noduplicates}). This represents a special form of spatial thinning (e.g. *spThin* R package, Aiello-Lammens et al. 2019). In order to identify which combination of feature classes and regularization multiplier (RM) lead to the highest performing model, the function *ENMevaluate* of the ENMeval R package was used (Muscarella et al. 2014), following recommendations from recent literature; e.g. Merow et al. (2013) and Radosavljevic and Anderson (2014). Combinations of six feature classes and eight values for regularization multipliers (ranging from 0.5 to 4, with an increment of 0.5) were selected, leading to 48 models in total. Maxent's best model parameters were picked according to testing AUC. Spatial blocks were created using the R-package "blockCV" (Valavi et al. 2018).

Spatial blocks based on presence and background data, where 0 was assigned to background points and 1 to presence locations. Block size was estimated as the median spatial autocorrelation range of the environmental variables, using "*spatialAutoRange*" function (see Fig. 2). Blocks were then distributed randomly into 4 cross-validation folds using "*spatialBlock*" function (iterations = 500). This function tries to find the best allocation of blocks into cross-validation folds, in a way that balances the number of presence and background locations between folds. The same procedure was run separately for each model.

2.4.1. Duplicates Model (model_{duplicates})

The implemented blockCV mask layer mean range was 471,571 meters (see Fig. 5). This is the specified range by which blocks were created and training/testing data were separated. Data was then manually separated into four spatially cross-validated folds, resulting in four cross-validated models and one full model. For details on model settings see Table 4.

2.4.2. Removed Duplicates Model Arguments (model_{noduplicates})

The implemented blockCV mask layer mean range was 453,767 meters (see Fig. 5). Data were manually separated into four spatially cross-validated folds, resulting in four cross-validated models and one full model. To account for spatial sampling bias, any duplicates within the occurrence data were removed. The removal of duplicates (a duplicate being one or more sightings per grid cell) led to a remainder of 746 occurrences. For details on model settings see Table 4.



Fig. 5: Spatial blocks for model versions with and without duplicates

Arguments ENMevaluate

Algorithm = maxent.jar

Max. iterations = 3000

Method = user

Overlap = true

Bin.output = true

Parallel = true

Settings	Duplicate Model	Removed Duplicates Model
Add samples to background	false	false
Maximum Iterations	3000	3000
Jackknife	true	true
Write background predictions	true	true
Response curves	true	true
Pictures	true	true
Total number of background points	51,595	51,595
Total number of occurrences	1229	746

Table 4: Overview of the settings for model_{duplicates} and model_{noduplicates}

Afterwards, models were run in R using the *maxent* function of "dismo" R-package (Hijmans et al. 2017) (for details see the R-script in the appendix). Predictions were made using *predict* function of the "dismo" package. There are four types of output in MaxEnt: logistic, cumulative, raw and cloglog. Cloglog was chosen as the output form for the analyses, as it is considered to have a stronger theoretical justification than e.g. logistic output (Philipps et al. 2017). All models were stacked and saved. The niche overlap between all models was calculated using *calc.niche.overlap* function of ENMeval R package (Muscarella et al. 2014).

The niche overlap metric used was the Schoener's D (Schoener 1968), which is a statistic for map congruence between pairs of prediction maps, and ranges from 0 (no overlap) to 1 (identical). It was used to identify how much similarity there is between model predictions (Schoener 1968, Warren et al. 2008). Jackknifing and PI were conducted in all model runs, as it enabled the assessment of the relative importance of each of the environmental variables within the respective model.

2.4.3 Visualization of predictions

All prediction maps were prepared using R, describing habitat suitability for each grid cell of the study area, ranging from 0 to 1 (0 being unsuitable, 1 being highly suitable).

3. RESULTS

Ten models with the best combination of MaxEnt's FC and RM estimated based on spatial-block cross-validation (with keeping and removing duplicated occurrences located at each grid cell: model_{duplicates} and model_{noduplicates}, respectively) were constructed. Two full models and 8 spatially cross-validated models. The two full models of model_{duplicates} and model_{noduplicates} show a similar pattern of habitat suitability, though habitat suitability seems to be rather extensive and not so clustered in the model_{noduplicates} (see Fig. 6). Progression of the response curves are similar, though varying in values, while the ratio between variables seems to be somewhat similar (Fig. 13 - 15). The top important variables of model_{duplicates} and model_{noduplicates} vary in their composition (see Fig. 9 - 12). In both full models, the seasonal variability (sd) of Chlorophyll-a, sea surface height, variability of temperature at 100 m, aspect, velocity, sea ice concentration, salinity at 100 m, and distance to isobath 500 m were the least contributing variables, with permutation importance less than 6% (see Fig. 11 and Fig. 12). Therefore, their response curves are not discussed further as they are presumed to not have a significant influence on habitat suitability of the fin whale. These variables are only shown in the supplementary (see appendix A).

3.1 Model with duplicates (model_{duplicates})

Five different models were built for the model_{duplicates} including four cross-validated models built on spatial blocks and one full model. The model_{duplicates} had an average testing AUC of $0.855 \pm$ 0.016. Habitat suitability is highest along the southwestern coast of Svalbard. Another peak in suitability is on the eastern side of Svalbard, though not as high as on the southwestern coast. This is followed by the north of Norway and on the eastern coast of Greenland up to Iceland (Fig. 6). The standard deviation of the predicted distribution of different cross-validation folds of model_{duplicates} is comparably low. It is highest in the southeast of Svalbard, with patterns similar to general habitat suitability in the prediction map (see Fig. 7).

3.2 Model without duplicates (model_{noduplicates})

Five different models were built for the model_{noduplicates} including four cross-validated models built on spatial blocks and one full model. The model_{noduplicates} had an average testing AUC of 0.862 ± 0.0098 . The pattern of habitat suitability in the model_{noduplicates} prediction map is broader and stronger than that of model_{duplicates}, especially around Svalbard and Norway (Fig. 6). Highest habitat suitability, here too, is along the southwestern coast of Svalbard, though a lot more extensive in the South and southeast of Svalbard. In northern Norway habitat suitability is high as well, higher than in the model_{duplicates}. Throughout the rest of the study area, patterns do not differ dramatically, though generally habitat suitability seems to be higher in areas of former predicted medium habitat suitability (Fig. 6). Standard deviation is higher than in model_{duplicates}, mainly in the areas of increased predicted habitat suitability compared to the standard deviation of model_{duplicates} (Fig. 7 and Fig. 8).



Fig. 6: Prediction maps of model_{duplicates} and model_{noduplicates}. Habitat suitability ranges from 0 (blue; low) to 1 (red; high).



Fig. 7: Mean prediction map of the four cross-validated folds of model_{duplicates} and the according standard deviation. Habitat suitability ranges from 0 (blue; low) to 1 (red; high).



Fig. 8: Mean prediction map of the four cross-validated folds of model_{noduplicates} and the according standard deviation. Habitat suitability ranges from 0 (blue; low) to 1 (red; high).

3.3. Jackknife of regularized training gain

When used alone to run models of type model_{duplicates}, distance to ice had the highest predictive power, followed by the variability (sd) of sea surface temperature, the variability (sd) of sea surface height, distance to shore and mean salinity at 100 m. Whereas, the model_{duplicates} showed the least performance when bathymetry, distance to shore, and slope were excluded (see Fig. 9).



Fig. 9: Jackknife of regularized training gain for the full model_{duplicates}. Green indicates model performance without respective variable, blue indicates model performance with only variable. Red indicates model performance when all variables were used.

For the model_{noduplicates}, with only variable, distance to ice had the highest predictive power, followed by the variability (sd) of sea surface height, salinity at 100 m, variability (sd) of sea surface temperature and distance to shore. The model_{noduplicates} showed the least performance when bathymetry, distance to shore, distance to ice and slope were excluded. While without variable, the model was weakest without bathymetry, distance to shore, distance to shore, distance to shore, distance to and slope, indicating a relative importance of these variables (see Fig. 10).



Fig. 10: Jackknife of regularized training gain for the full model_{noduplicates}. Green indicates model performance without respective variable, blue indicates model performance with only variable. Red indicates model performance when all variables were used.

3.4 Permutation Importance

The most contributing variables in terms of permutation importance in the full model_{duplicates} were distance to shore, distance to sea ice edge, slope, salinity at 100 m depth, bathymetry, and variability of sea surface temperature (see Fig. 11).



Fig. 11: PI for all EVs of the model_{duplicates7} in a descending order. Dots resemble the full model, while bars indicate the mean PI of all four models. Error bars represent the standard deviation of PI. The solid horizontal line indicates a threshold of 6 below which EVs were of low interest.
The most contributing variables in terms of permutation importance in the full model_{noduplicates} were distance to shore, distance to sea ice edge, bathymetry, variability of sea surface temperature, slope and salinity at 100 m depth (see Fig. 12). In all four model folds and the full model_{noduplicates}, both distance to shore and sea ice edge contributed most, varying only in magnitude. Aspect was the least contributing variable, both in jackknifing and permutation importance (see Fig. 10 and Fig. 12).



Fig. 12: Permutation importance for all EVs of model_{noduplicates}, in a descending order. Dots resemble the full model, while bars indicate mean PI values of all four model. Error bars represent the standard deviation of PI. The solid horizontal line indicates a threshold of 6 below which EVs were of low interest

3.5 Niche Overlap

Depicted below is the congruence between predictions of each pair of the four cross-validated models (with duplicates and without duplicates; Table 5 and Table 6, respectively). Overall,_-the Shoener's D index, which represents the similarity between each pair of maps, was somewhat larger in the model without duplicates than in the one with duplicates.

Table 5: Niche overlap (prediction congruence) between predictions of each pair of the four cross-validated models of model_{duplicates}

Model	CV1	CV 2	CV 3	CV 4
CV 1				
CV 2	0.793			
CV 3	0.762	0.709		
CV 4	0.803	0.740	0.717	
Full Model	0.892	0.834	0.813	0.844

Table 6: Niche overlap (prediction congruence) between predictions of each pair of the four cross-validated models of the model_{noduplicates}

Model	CV1	CV 2	CV 3	CV 4
CV 1				
CV 2	0.753			
CV 3	0.768	0.805		
CV 4	0.742	0.797	0.770	
Full Model	0.831	0.879	0.865	0.851

3.6 Response curves for all models

Depicted below is the comparison of all response curves for the respective full model of $model_{duplicates}$ and $model_{noduplicates}$ (Fig. 14). Only response curves of the most contributing variables (PI > 6) are shown.



Fig. 13: Response curves for distance to shore (left) and sea ice edge (right). Ticks on the upper axis represent values at occurrences, while ticks on the lower axis represent values at background locations. Number after model name indicates the permutation importance of the respective variable.

The ticks of the rug in Fig. 13 show that most occurrences were recorded closer to shore. Similarly, models predict high habitat suitability within ~ 80 km from the shore, which then sharply decreases and stabilizes at low suitability beyond ~ 300 km from the shore (Fig. 13). Models show a unimodal relationship with distance to ice edge, with a peak suitability at ~ 170 km from the ice edge, in ice-free areas, then decreases sharply at higher distances. Habitat suitability is low to very low on the ice edge and in ice-covered areas (Fig. 13).

For bathymetry, models show a peak preference at a depth around 200 m, with much lower preference for shallower areas (Fig. 14), though the ticks show that most occurrences occur in rather shallow areas. Further, fin whales seem to avoid locations with very low slopes (Fig. 14). Habitat suitability increases sharply with increasing slope then stabilise (see Fig. 14). Contrastingly, most occurrences were noted at lower slope.



Fig. 14: Response curves for bathymetry (left) and slope (right). Ticks on the upper axis represent values at occurrences, while ticks on the lower axis represent values at background locations. Number after model name indicates the permutation importance of the respective variable.



Fig. 15: Response curves for salinity at 100 meters depth (left) and variability of sea surface temperature (right). Ticks on the upper axis represent values at occurrences, while ticks on the lower axis represent values at background locations. Number after model name indicates the permutation importance of the respective variable.

There is no apparent relationship between fin whale suitability and mean salinity at 100 m depth up to a value of \sim 34.4 (although still having a moderate suitability), then suitability increased with a peak at \sim 35 then sharply decreased (Fig. 15). Most sightings occurred around these values.

There is a predicted peak in habitat suitability at locations with very low variability of sea surface temperature ($<1.5^{\circ}$) (Fig. 15). Highest habitat suitability here seems to lie between a standard deviation of 0 and 1 (see Fig. 15), though with a much broader range of occurrences.

4. DISCUSSION

The aim of this master thesis was to predict habitat suitability of fin whales in the Nordic Seas using opportunistic sighting data and SDMs. A further aim was to identify underlying drivers of habitat suitability in terms of environmental variables. Two types of spatially cross-validated models, one with and one without duplicates, were constructed. This led to the identification of six environmental variables having an impact on fin whale habitat suitability in the Nordic Seas (permutation importance >6 %), with the two most contributing variables being distance to shore and distance to sea ice edge.

4.1. Comparison to other studies

The habitat preferences of fin whales are mainly reflected by six environmental variables. These variables are distance to shore, distance to sea ice edge, bathymetry, sea surface temperature (sd), salinity at 100 m depth (mean), and slope. In order to compare results of this study with others, some studies around the study area with similar approaches were regarded. Storrie et al. (2018) recently published a study on species assemblage and habitat use of cetaceans in the Svalbard Archipelago using MaxEnt. The predicted distribution of fin whales reported by Storrie et al. (2018) largely agrees with our results. Areas with particularly shallow and flat bathymetry were modelled to be unsuitable habitats (below 20 %) (Storrie et al. 2018). Very deep areas beyond the slope and areas with dense ice cover were also found to be unsuitable (Storrie et al. 2018). Fin whales were detected in a broad array of depths there, with a median depth of 250 m. This resembles our results, though here, rather than seeing a distribution over a broadband of depths, we found highest habitat suitability to be at depths of 180 to 240 m. Fin whales prefer areas with open water afar from sea ice, and most suitable habitats were identified to be steep areas of the continental slope around the 500 m isobath (Storrie et al. 2018). In some other studies, fin whales occupied a narrow zone along and north of the polar front, with some individuals also occurring at the shelf edge and southwestern Barents Sea (Skern-Mauritzen et al. 2011). Here, too, areas along the polar front, which run southwestwards of Svalbard, were modelled highly suitable for fin whales (Fig. 6). Fin whale habitat suitability seems to be especially high north of the polar front, along the shelves of Svalbard (Fig. 6 and Fig. 16). The position of the polar front and associated productivity gradients are to a large degree determined by bathymetry, particularly in the western Barents Sea (Harris et al. 1998, Ingvaldsen 2005).

As prey availability may be more predictable in productive areas, prey predictability has been suggested to impact the distribution of pelagic predators (Gende and Sigler 2006, Skern-Mauritzen et al. 2011). Hence, productive areas, such as in the polar front (Fig. 16), may be quite predictable spatially and temporally and seem to serve as suitable foraging areas (Fall and Skern-Mauritzen 2011), which reflects in the current study.



Fig. 16: Main circulation and water masses in the Barents Sea. The mean ice edge, using 15% (solid) and 40% (dashed) ice concentration, in September (black) and the Polar Front (grey) (Source: Johannesen et al. 2012).

4.2. Model Performance

Model performance has been comparably high, with convincing output (see Fig. 6). In general, $model_{duplicates}$ (AUC 0.855 ± 0.016) and $model_{noduplicates}$ (AUC 0.862 ± 0.0098) had high AUC values and showed reasonable patterns of habitat suitability. As has been discussed in the introduction, the usual way of calculating AUC does not maintain spatial independence between training and testing dataset, so spatial-block cross-validation has been used. Standard deviation of the averaged predictions from the four cross-validated models of both model types shows reasonable values, indicating good model performance (see Fig.7 and Fig. 8). The use of spatial-block cross-validation which accounts for spatial autocorrelation and the estimation of best combination of Maxent's

settings may also explain the consistent predictions of the cross-validated models. To avoid spatial sampling bias, as is often the case when using opportunistic sighting data (El-Gabbas Dormann 2018), duplicated occurrences were removed. This resulted in a convincing prediction map, with a slightly higher AUC, and a lower standard deviation as compared to the other model. Main difference between both model types is the broader or "smoother" modelled distribution in model_{noduplicates}. This model predicts areas of suitable habitats in under-sampled areas (see Fig. 6). This is not the case in model_{duplicates}, where highest habitat suitability agglomerates around the places of highest occurrence data. Nevertheless, both models showed -high performance.

4.3. Potential distribution of fin whales in the Nordic Sea

The predicted distribution from the full (and mean cross-validated) model_{noduplicates} seemed to be slightly more realistic than the model_{duplicates}, due to the much smoother modelled habitat suitability (Fig. 6) and former mentioned arguments. The modelled distribution is in concordance with other studies of fin whale occurrences and their favored prey distribution (Kovacs et al. 2009, Vikingsson et al. 2015, Storrie et al. 2018). Unsurprisingly, along the East Greenland coast, habitat suitability was rather low, compared to Svalbard, though former studies have shown high fin whale occurrences here (Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2007, Vikingsson et al. 2009, Hansen et al. 2018). Due to low occurrence data within this area, it is not surprising that habitat suitability was estimated lower than around Svalbard. Some areas in front of the southern East Greenland coast were modelled to be highly suitable, which is convincing and indicate good model performance as it is consistent with prior studies documenting the occurrence of fin whales in this region (see Fig. 6).

4.3.1 Distance to shore

Distance to shore was the most important environmental variable in both full models with permutation importance ranges from 26.3% to 31.1%. The response curves show a clear preference of fin whale to locations closer to shore than farther away, with highest suitability at around 10 km up to 80 km (Fig. 13). Within the study area, fin whales were mostly found in dense aggregations offshore, e.g. along the East Greenland coast (Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2007). Other studies show somewhat contrasting findings. In Iceland, fin whales were virtually absent from shallow coastal waters (Vikingsson et al. 2015), while in the Mediterranean Sea, fin whales were found beyond the continental shelf (Forcada et al. 1996). In the Northern Hemisphere, fin whales tend to occur in temperate offshore to subpolar waters south of approximately 60–70° N (Mizroch et al. 2009, Edwards et al. 2015).

Compared to earlier years, they were observed more frequently in near-shore areas (Storrie et al. 2018) though Zerbini et al. (2016) found fin whale occurrence to increase linearly with distance to shore in the Eastern Bering Sea (Zerbini et al. 2016). Results here suggest that fin whales do not favor shallow waters, as habitat suitability increases around 8 to 80 km away from shore. Offshore areas do not seem to be suitable either, because modelled habitat suitability thereafter sinks again.

4.3.2 Distance to sea ice edge

In the Arctic, several cetaceans such as bowhead whales (Balaena mysticetus), narwhals (Monodon *monoceros*), and minke whales are known to be closely associated to the ice edge, areas of light ice cover or in open water within the ice (Ribic et al 1991, van Franeker 1992, Ainley et al. 2007, Scheidat et al. 2011). In the Antarctic, the presence of fin whales showed a negative correlation with sea ice concentrations on weekly to monthly time scales and it was suggested that fin whales were absent in ice-covered areas (Širović et al. 2004). In the study area, some observations in areas with loose drift ice were made in a different study, though modelling suggested general unsuitability of areas with dense ice cover (Storrie et al. 2018). In this study, results showed an optimum habitat suitability for fin whales at distances between 80 and 170 km from the ice edge in ice-free areas (Fig. 15). These findings are supported by the modelled highest habitat suitability in mean sea ice concentrations of < 20% (see Fig. 2 in Appendix A). An increase in habitat suitability from 0 to 18 % sea ice concentration indicates some tolerance according to sea ice though. In a former study in the Antarctic only minke whales were observed within the ice, while fin whales were exclusively observed in open waters, which fits to these findings (van Franeker 1992). In the Gulf of St. Lawrence, fin whales were found to shift their arrival dates at feeding grounds at a rate of 1 day earlier each year per 3 decades, which was linked to an earlier sea ice break up and higher sea surface temperature (SST) (Ramp et al. 2015). Tsjuii et al. (2016) also suggested that fin whales arrive in the Chuckchi Sea only after sea ice has melted and water temperature has elevated. Furthermore, they were noticed to stay longer when the ice-free period was longer, and their presence seems to be related to higher water temperature and zooplankton abundance (Tsjuii et al. 2016). In Davis Strait, some fin whale individuals do not migrate south until sea ice forms from the north in November or December (Širović et al. 2004, Simon et al 2010). All in all, these findings, supported by the results of this study, suggest a strong temporal relationship between the occurrence of fin whales and sea ice melting/formation: fin whales seem to avoid ice-covered areas and rather roam in ice-free or -limited areas, avoiding the sea ice edge.

4.3.3 Salinity

Results suggest no relationship between fin whale habitat suitability and salinity at 100 m up to a value of 34.4, then increased to reach a peak at a value of around 35 then reduced sharply at high salinity values (Fig. 16). As to my knowledge, no studies have related the distribution of fin whales to salinity, despite Tsujii et al. (2016), who found that fin whales leave the southern Chukchi Sea after the decrease in water temperature and salinity. Their findings suggested that the physical environment may trigger the movement of fin whales towards their wintering area, though the role of salinity in this remains unclear. It is likely, that salinity acts as a proxy for other variables, such as temperature, which affects sea ice conditions, which again leads to fluctuations in salinity. Interestingly, within this study, salinity had the highest correlations (around -0.4) with the variability of chlorophyll-a concentration.

4.3.4 Bathymetry and Slope

Fin whales have been previously found to be feeding offshore and/or at large deep-water bays (Perkins and Whitehead 1977, Parsons and Brownlie 1981). Woodley & Gaskin (1996) observed that fin whales tend to aggregate where bottom topography is heterogeneous, and water is well mixed. It was further found that fin whales utilize currents modulated by sea bottom topography (Woodley and Gaskin 1996, Panigada et al. 2005). Water depth and slope act as important predictors of fin whale occurrence in the North Atlantic (Woodley and Gaskin 1996, Ingram et al. 2007, Vikingsson et al. 2015, Schleimer et al. 2019). In the Bay of Fundy, Canada, a modelled fin whale sighting rate indicated an increase in the sighting rate of fin whales with increasing depth, which clearly contrasts our results (Ingram et al. 2007). There is a direct relationship between bathymetric characteristics and fin whale habitat suitability though, here, fin whales do not favor the deepest regions. A preferred depth of around 200 m has been noted, while at deeper areas habitat suitability decreased again (Fg. 14). In Svalbard and Iceland, fin whales were found to generally occupy steeper and deeper regions (Vikingsson et al. 2015 and 2017, Storrie et al. 2018), which is only partly in contrast to our findings. Our modelled highest habitat suitability according to slope on the other hand, does well agree with prior findings of other studies. Slopes are known to act as an important predictor of fin whale occurrence in the North Atlantic (Woodley and Gaskin 1996, Ingram et al. 2007, Vikingsson et al. 2015, Schleimer et al. 2019).

In Svalbard, fin whales were observed with greatest densities amongst others along the continental slope to the west and north of Spitsbergen before (Storrie et al. 2018). The front between polar and Arctic water, around the slope of the Greenland Plateau, attracts many fin whales (Joiris 2012). Here, slope had a strong impact on habitat suitability, which increases with increasing slope, demonstrating steeper regions to be favored. By contributing to the model with a PI of 7.8 and lower model performance when left out of the model, it indicates an important environmental variable, underlying fin whale distribution.

4.3.5 Sea Surface Temperature

The variability of sea surface temperature throughout summer months had a relatively high impact on the distribution of fin whales (PI = 7.8). When used alone, it was among the most contributing variables, while when excluded it does lead to a decrease in regularized training gain (see Jackknifing results; Figures 9 and 10). Highest habitat suitability was predicted at locations with very low sea surface temperature variability (Fig. 15), indicating a preference of fin whales to areas with homogenous sea surface temperature (SST) during summer. Though mean SST or deeper in the water column were not included in the model, a preference for rather cooler water, given other studies and the other results of this study, is likely. In other areas, highest densities of fin whales were significantly higher in relatively cool waters than elsewhere (Forcada et al. 1996). Fin whales are distributed in ice-free areas of Arctic water masses and the colder parts of Atlantic water masses (Nottestad et al. 2014). Due to only small differences in temperature throughout the water column, currents within the Barents Sea are barotropic and stratification is mainly determined by salinity changes (Ingvaldsen and Leong 2009, Tomczak and Godfrey 2013). The fresher, lighter waters stay in the upper layer and form the Polar Mixed Layer, one of the three water masses of the Arctic Ocean (Tomczak and Godfrey 2013). Stratification is generally weak in winter, but increases in spring, due to increasing temperatures and freshwater inflow (of sea ice melting). The timing of this stratification has a clear impact on the timing and development of spring phytoplankton bloom (Ingvaldsen and Loeng 2009), which might make water temperature a direct link or indicator to prey resources. Therefore, an interrelation between the preference of low variability in SST and prey is likely, though, here, it is not clear to which extent.

4.3.6 Other variables

Several environmental variables were of negligible importance within the habitat suitability model. These variables comprise: variability of sea surface salinity, distance to 500 m isobath, variability of sea surface height, mean velocity, mean sea ice concentration, variability of temperature at 100 m depth, variability of chlorophyll-a, and aspect. A potential explanation for differing important environmental variables are of course the variability of the ecosystem and different ecological needs in different regions. As whales are migratory, breeding in lower latitudes in winter while mainly feeding at higher latitudes in summer (Stern 2009, Silva et al. 2019), environmental variables underlying their distribution probably deviates according to their needs. One would, for instance, expect environmental variables that act as proxy to feeding in summer, while in winter, during breeding season, it would be EVs that are linked to breeding. In the Arctic, northward expansion of fin whales has been noted, with increasing sightings in coastal environments and occasionally habitat shifts into deeper waters (Vikingsson et al. 2015, Storrie et al. 2018). This might lead to fluctuations within favored habitats of fin whales during the past decade and could potentially mask the effectiveness of habitat suitability models, due to temporal variation. This, of course, complicates modelling and might lead to an underestimation of important covariates. Observations of environmental change in the study area extend these issues and include increased water temperatures, a temporal shift in phytoplankton bloom and a general decrease in zooplankton biomass (Rey 2004, ICES 2010 a,b, Huse et al. 2012). As effects of anthropogenic activities are spatially heterogeneous, the intensity of the responses of marine predators to human activities may vary, such as some species being more vulnerable in specific areas of their range (Trathan et al. 2007). Predicting the effects of anthropogenic changes on marine predators is complex and does largely depend on individual responses of the species towards changes in the environment (Harley et al. 2006, Brook et al. 2008). Former SDMs indicated that fin whale distribution was characterized by water depth, distance to 200 m and 2000 m isobath, SST and SSH and chlorophyll-a concentration (Vikingsson et al. 2015, Zerbini et al. 2016). While distance to 200 m and 2000 m isobath were not included in the model and therefore not linked to fin whale occurrence, all other variables were in some form included. The predicted highest abundance of fin whales around 2000 m isobaths and virtual absence from shallow coastal waters of Iceland in a previous study were in accordance with the preference of fin whales' regional main prey M. norvegica to deeper waters (Vikingsson et al. 2015). Within this study though, no tendency towards any isobath was found. Important to note though, is the potential correlation of variables, as e.g. distance to shore or bathymetry might act as proxies for other EVs such as distance to isobath. The fact that no relation was found between fin whale occurrence and chlorophyll-a concentration or sea surface temperature might also be due to differences in between studies of temporal and/or spatial resolution. Here, for example, an 8-day-composite of chlorophyll-a concentration was used. Despite deviances in data sources, it should be considered that fin whales might favor different habitats linked to different EVs, not only in their feeding or mating habitat, but potentially between different longitudes and/or latitudes.

4.4. General considerations

As the distribution of whales at their summer feeding grounds is most likely linked to food sources, different environmental variables can be of higher importance than others. Especially because prey often forms the missing link between oceanographic variables and higher-trophic level predators (Croll et al. 2005, Friedlaender et al. 2006, Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2007, Anderwald et al. 2012). Additionally, at small spatial scales (e.g. metres to few kilometres), highly dynamic avoidance by prey could result in hardly noticeable, dynamic spatial associations between predators and prey (Fauchald 2009). Ergo in pelagic systems, beyond environmental variables, predator-prev associations are likely important effects that are scale-dependent (Fall and Skern-Mauritzen 2014). Another important fact when considering scales in SDMs is the temporal variability in prey preference: Schleimer et al. (2019) found evidence that habitat use of fin whales in the Gulf of St. Lawrence changed as the season progressed, which might be linked to switched prey preferences. Euphausiids are an integral part of the generalist diet of fin whales, though these whales were suggested to be flexible feeders, as they are known to switch prey depending on availability and sex (Gavrilchuck et al. 2014, Ressler et al. 2015). If fin whales vary in prey preferences, most likely different EVs favor the occurrence of these prey species. Unravelling the mechanisms that lead to the formation of a species ecological niche requires small-scale habitat research, investigating both prey distribution and associated predatory behavior, as well as potential predator avoidance strategies by the prey (Bombosch et al. 2014). To gain a better understanding of the influence of prey on habitat models and their feeding ecology, it is important to have high spatiotemporal synchrony in the collection of prey and cetacean data, to quantify their relationship (Laidre et al. 2010). Especially threshold values at which prey switching occurs could be an important factor to which models need to be adjusted spatially and /or temporally. As the distribution of highly mobile marine predators, to which fin whales belong, is not static, temporal variation needs to be taken into account. For instance, habitat suitability of humpback and minke whales in the Antarctic was found to be highest in coastal areas at the end of the season (Bombosch et al. 2014). Even at smaller temporal scales, the resolution might be of high importance: Fin whales are known to dive longer and most likely deeper during the day than the night (Watkins et al. 1984, Stone et al. 1992), therefore a temporal variation in habitat suitability of environmental variables is possible.

4.5. Limitations

Citizen science has provided useful insight into the abundance and distribution of cetaceans (Cheney et al. 2013, Beck et al. 2014, Bruce et al. 2014) and is expected to be helpful for many more studies in the future. The data logging software 'Walog' (Burkhardt 2009), which was used for the collection of Polarstern data, enabled high-quality acquisition of species data and is considered a useful tool for citizen science. After appropriate instructions to the user, similar approaches could be used on whale-watching boats and research vessels. However, it is important to note that Polarstern sightings were not part of systematic surveys and typically come from independent, random survey designs, so one cannot estimate sampling effort using similar datasets. Using Polarstern data alone, due to small data, would not have been sufficient for the analysis. Therefore, it was important to include open source data, such as GBIF or iOBIS, without which model performance would have most likely been weaker. To obtain more reliable data and to be independent from open-source data, surveys such as from Polarstern, should be dedicated or compromised towards a general research goal. For example, personnel could be employed to constantly whale watch and log. Also, investigating an unsampled part of the study area to address a larger variety of environmental variables could be a reasonable addition. As possibly different environmental variables are linked to different prey types, this could ideally complement the model, as it is possible that different prey is targeted in different areas. The suggestions above could make SDMs in the Arctic or Antarctic much more robust and accurate.

Some considerations should be taken into account when interpreting the results, though, as biases do exist according to study design (e.g. in the form of easily accessible areas for citizens). There is the possibility of species misidentification, though this uncertainty can be considered low for the Polarstern data, as only sightings of high certainty of identification were used.

Also, habitat models can only estimate the part of a species "niche", which was captured by the sighting, therefore the applicability to unsampled areas is depending on the representativeness of the prevalent environmental conditions (Bombosch et al. 2014). This study, as well as other modelling studies, suggests that fin whales occupy a broad range of habitats, with the most suitable ones occurring along the steeper areas of the continental slope and around the 500 m depth contour (Storrie et al. 2018). Even though the latter did not significantly contribute to model performance, we found highly important factors, such as distance to shore and distance to sea ice edge or mean salinity at 100 m depth, bathymetry, standard deviation of SST and slope. It is conspicuous that many of these variables are static variables. This might be of various reasons and potential errors in remotely sensed data should always be considered. One reason to think of is that oceanographic processes are often tightly coupled to the physical environment, such that upwelling is often linked to bathymetry or slope. Environmental conditions that allow dense aggregations of prey occur in coastal zones, upwelling areas, fronts and/or offshore regions of high productivity (Croll et al. 2005, Johnston et al. 2005, Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2007, Gill et al. 2011, Visser et al. 2011), which might have enhanced habitat suitability within this study. Another reason might be spatially and/or temporally too coarse environmental variables. A limitation within this work was the circumstance that no directly prey-linked variables were available and could therefore not be included in the analysis. It would have been interesting to see if there was a link between e.g. krill or fish abundance and habitat suitability of fin whales. Especially, as fin whales are known to target krill, capelin and blue whiting depending in the region (e.g. Skern-Mauritzen et al. 2011, Nottestad et al. 2014). In a recent study by Schleimer et al. (2019), a positive correlation was found between krill biomass and fin whale numbers. Anyhow, another model, comprising bathymetric and oceanographic variables, was built in the same study and was proven to be more robust than the krill model (Schleimer et al. 2019). This demonstrates the necessity of a comprehensive consideration of model input and combination of environmental variables as well as model settings optimization. Further, it is important to note that fin whales distribution in the study area could also be linked to EVs not currently available at appropriate spatial and/or temporal resolution. After all, it is important to note that the results of this study are only valid within the study area and must not be transferred for other areas, e.g. such as the Mediterranean. The model is trained with a specific range of values for environmental variables, so that projecting this beyond the study area can be subject to high uncertainty. Additionally, the model is only valid in summer for the same reasons.

4.6 Outlook

Overall, environmental changes, such as increasing SST or the decline in sea ice extent, which were observed over the past decades (e.g. Stroeve et al. 2012, Overland and Wang 2013, Pistone et al. 2014), most likely have affected cetacean distributional patterns. If environmental variables are thought to have a direct influence on cetacean distribution, a change in EVs will most likely lead to a change in distribution. For example, water masses, fronts, pack ice and ice edge are known to be the main hydrographic factors influencing the distribution of the upper trophic levels in the ocean (Joiris et al. 2014 and references therein). Fluctuations in the usage of habitat is mostly determined by multiple oceanographic variables and their effects on prey distribution and abundance (Croll et al. 2005, Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2007, Gill et al. 2011). If sea ice-loss extends, and the increases in water temperature and inflow of the water mass from the Bering Sea continue, the distribution range of fin whales in the Arctic Sea will extend (Tsjuii et al. 2016). Therefore, temporal resolution of EVs should play an important role in SDMs. Baleen whales constitute important top-down regulators of the marine ecosystem (Bowen 1997, Simon et al. 2010). It has been argued that as significant regulation of zooplankton and fish occurs, top predator responses to different prey regimes determine both structure and functioning of an ecosystem (Dalpadado et al. 2003, Gjosaeter et al. 2009, Skern-Mauritzen et al. 2011). These relationships should therefore, especially in times of climate change, be investigated and built into future models. Machine learning methods can be very powerful and helpful tools to protect marine species due to above stated reasons. In this study, it was possible to identify areas of high interest for fin whales and model their potential distribution accordingly. Opportunistic sighting data has proven its suitability for using in SDMs. Important EVs were identified, and possible mechanisms, underlying distribution, were unravelled. It can be expected that many more of these studies will emerge in the future, either using citizen science or other scientific studies. Our study further demonstrates the utility of species distribution modelling in hardly accessible areas, where sighting data is scarce. It is an important tool to model the distribution of marine species that is cost-effective and can aid in conservation measures. This might include prediction maps for mitigation of fisheries, seismic surveys, etc. It can enhance research in forms of informative prediction maps, inspiring studies of rather restricted areas, where species occurrence is expected to be high. This provides researchers with the opportunity to confirm on habitat suitability maps, as yet unsampled areas could be investigated. In general, this study has shown that citizen science and open source data can enhance and supplement research, if data are treated accordingly.

v

APPENDIX

Appendix A



Response curves of all environmental variables < 6 % permutation importance

Fig. 1: Response curves for distance to isobath 500 (left) and sd of salinity (right). Ticks on the upper axis represent values at occurrences, while ticks on the lower axis represent values at background locations. Number after model name indicates the permutation importance of the respective variable.



Fig. 2: Response curves for temperature at 100 m (left) and sea ice concentration (right). Ticks on the upper axis represent values at occurrences, while ticks on the lower axis represent values at background locations. Number after model name indicates the permutation importance of the respective variable.



Fig. 3: Response curves for velocity (left) and sea surface height (right). Ticks on the upper axis represent values at occurrences, while ticks on the lower axis represent values at background locations. Number after model name indicates the permutation importance of the respective variable.



Fig. 4: Response curves for aspect (left) and chlorophyll-a (right). Ticks on the upper axis represent values at occurrences, while ticks on the lower axis represent values at background locations. Number after model name indicates the permutation importance of the respective variable.

Appendix B

R Scripts

Protocol for assessing multicollinearity

evs_vifstep <- vifstep(evs,th=4)</pre>

9 variables from the 24 input variables have collinearity problem:

Temp0mean Sal0mean Temp100mean Dist2Iso100SQRT SSHmean Sal100STDlog VeloSTD ChlaMean SICstd

After excluding the collinear variables, the linear correlation coefficients ranges between:

min correlation (Slope ~ SICmean): 0.003267862

max correlation (Dist2Iso200SQRT ~ Bathymetry): -0.7261775

evsSmall <- evs[[as.character(evs_vifstep@results\$Variables)]]

evs_vifcor2 <- vifcor(evsSmall,th=0.7)</pre>

evsSmall2 <- evs[[as.character(evs_vifcor2@results\$Variables)]]

evsSmall2 <- stack(evsSmall2, evs\$Temp0mean, evs\$Temp100mean, evs\$SICstd)

evs_vifstep2 <- vifstep(evsSmall2, th=4)

evs_vifcor3 <- vifcor(evsSmall2, th=0.7)</pre>

AA <- sort(as.character(vifcor(evsSmall2, th=0.7)@results\$Variables))

BB <- sort(as.character(vifcor(evs,th=0.7)@results\$Variables))

AA[-which(AA %in% BB)]

BB[-which(BB %in% AA)]

evsD <- as.data.frame(evs,na.rm=T)</pre>

evsD <- cor(evsD)

class(evsD)

corrplot(evsD,method="circle")

spatialBlock function protocol

ValsOcc <- extract(x = evsub\$Aspect, y = Occ)

ValsNAs <- which(is.na(ValsOcc))

spRange <- spatialAutoRange(rasterLayer = evsub, speciesData = Occ) # distance 453767

sb2 <- spatialBlock(speciesData = FinSP,species = "species",rasterLayer = evsub, maskBySpecies=F,

theRange = 453767, k = 4, selection = "random", iteration = 500)

foldExplorer(sb, evs, FinSP)

foldExplorer(sb2, evsub, FinSP)

save(spRangeRMDUPS, sbRMDUPS, sbRMDUPS2, FinSPRMDUPS, file = "D:/MA real Arctic AWI/Analysis_R/SAC_RMDUPS.RData")

BlockMaskRMDUPS <- rasterize(sb2\$blocks[, "folds"], evsub\$Bathymetry, field = sb2\$blocks\$folds)

BlockMaskRMDUPS <- mask(BlockMaskRMDUPS, evsub\$Bathymetry)

ENMeval function protocol

PresXY <- sp::coordinates(OccRM) PresCV <- raster::extract(BlockMaskRMDUPS, PresXY) BackXY <- raster::as.data.frame (x = BlockMaskRMDUPS, xy = T, na.rm = T) BackCV <- BackXY\$layer BackXY <- BackXY[, c("x", "y")]

It3000RMDUPS <- ENMevaluate(occ = PresXY, env = evsub, bg.coords = BackXY, occ.grp = PresCV, bg.grp = BackCV, algorithm = "maxent.jar", method = "user", overlap = T, bin.output = T, parallel = T, progbar = T, numCores = 4, maximumiterations = 3000, removed uplicates = "false")

Save (It3000RMDUPS, file="D:/MA real Arctic AWI/Analysis_R/It3000RMDUPS.RData")

It3000RMDUPS@models

max(sapply(1:48, function(x){ It3000RMDUPS@models[[x]]@results[4]}))

It3000RMDUPS@algorithm

It3000RMDUPS@results

It3000RMDUPS@predictions

Max_TAUC_ID <- which.max(It3000RMDUPS@results\$avg.test.AUC) #the item with the highest T.AUC

Plot (It3000RMDUPS@predictions[[Max_TAUC_ID]], main="AUC")

AA1 <- as.character(It3000RMDUPS@results\$settings[Max_TAUC_ID])

plot(It3000RMDUPS@predictions[[AA1]], main="AUC")

It3000RMDUPS@results[order(It3000RMDUPS@results\$avg.test.AUC, decreasing = T),]

It3000RMDUPSsubset <- It3000RMDUPS@results

```
It3000RMDUPSsubset <- It3000RMDUPSsubset[-which(It3000RMDUPSsubset$features == "LQHPT"),]
```

save(It3000RMDUPSsubset, file="D:/MA real Arctic AWI/Analysis_R/It3000RMDUPSsubset.RData")

REFERENCES

- Acevedo-Gutierrez, A., Croll, D.A., Tershy, B.R. (2002). High feeding costs limit dive time in the largest whales. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 205(12), 1747–1753.
- Aguilar, A. (2009). Fin whale: *Balaenoptera physalus*. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* (Second Edition) (pp. 433-437).
- Aiello-Lammens, M. E., Boria, R. A., Radosavljevic, A., Vilela, B., & Anderson, R. P. (2019). spThin: Functions for spatial thinning of species occurrence records for use in ecological models. R package version 0.1. 0. 2014.
- Ainley, D. G., Tynan, C. T., & Stirling, I. (2003). Sea ice: a critical habitat for polar marine mammals and birds. Sea ice: an introduction to its physics, chemistry, biology and geology. Blackwell, Oxford, UK, 240-266.
- Andersen, C., Koc, N., Jennings, A., & Andrews, J. T. (2004). Nonuniform response of the major surface currents in the Nordic Seas to insolation forcing: implications for the Holocene climate variability. *Paleoceanography*, 19(2).
- Anderwald, P., Evans, P. G., Dyer, R., Dale, A., Wright, P. J., & Hoelzel, A. R. (2012). Spatial scale and environmental determinants in minke whale habitat use and foraging. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 450, 259-274.
- Archer, F. I., Brownell, R. L., Hancock-Hanser, B. L., Morin, P. A., Robertson, K. M., Sherman, K. K., ... & Panigada, S. (2019). Revision of fin whale *Balaenoptera physalus* (Linnaeus, 1758) subspecies using genetics. *Journal of Mammalogy*.
- Arrigo, K. R., van Dijken, G., & Pabi, S. (2008). Impact of a shrinking Arctic ice cover on marine primary production. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 35(19).
- Austin, M. P. (2002). Spatial prediction of species distribution: an interface between ecological theory and statistical modelling. *Ecological modelling*, *157*(2-3), 101-118.
- Austin, M. (2007). Species distribution models and ecological theory: a critical assessment and some possible new approaches. *Ecological modelling*, 200(1-2), 1-19.

- Azzellino, A., Panigada, S., Lanfredi, C., Zanardelli, M., Airoldi, S., & di Sciara, G. N. (2012).
 Predictive habitat models for managing marine areas: spatial and temporal distribution of marine mammals within the Pelagos Sanctuary (Northwestern Mediterranean sea). Ocean & coastal management, 67, 63-74.
- Baird, R. W. (2003). Update COSEWIC status report on the humpback whale Megaptera novaeangliae in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada, Ottawa, Canada. 25pp.
- Beck, S., Foote, A. D., Koetter, S., Harries, O., Mandleberg, L., Stevick, P. T., ... & Durban, J. W. (2014). Using opportunistic photo-identifications to detect a population decline of killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) in British and Irish waters. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 94(6), 1327-1333.
- Bérubé, M., & Aguilar, A. (1998). A new hybrid between a blue whale, *Balaenoptera musculus*, and a fin whale, *B. physalus*: frequency and implications of hybridization. *Marine Mammal Science*, 14(1), 82-98.
- Bombosch, A., Zitterbart, D. P., Van Opzeeland, I., Frickenhaus, S., Burkhardt, E., Wisz, M. S., & Boebel, O. (2014). Predictive habitat modelling of humpback (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) and Antarctic minke (*Balaenoptera bonaerensis*) whales in the Southern Ocean as a planning tool for seismic surveys. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 91, 101-114.
- Borobia, M., Gearing, P. J., Simard, Y., Gearing, J. N., & Beland, P. (1995). Blubber fatty acids of fin and humpback whales from the Gulf of St. Lawrence. *Marine Biology*, *122*(3), 341-353.
- Borja, A., Prins, T. C., Simboura, N., Andersen, J. H., Berg, T., Marques, J. C., ... & Uusitalo, L. (2014). Tales from a thousand and one ways to integrate marine ecosystem components when assessing the environmental status. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 1, 72.
- Bosch S (2019). "robis: R Client to access data from the OBIS API." Ocean Biogeographic Information System.

- Bowen, W. D. (1997). Role of marine mammals in aquatic ecosystems. *Marine Ecology Progress* Series, 158, 267-274.
- Bowen, W.D., Siniff, D.B., (1999). Distribution, population biology, and feeding ecology of marine mammals. In: Reynolds, J.E., Rommel, S.A. (Eds.), *Biology of Marine Mammals*. Smithsonian Institute Press, Washington, DC, pp. 423–484.
- Box, G. E., & Cox, D. R. (1964). An analysis of transformations. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)*, 26(2), 211-243.
- Breen, P., Brown, S., Reid, D., & Rogan, E. (2016). Modelling cetacean distribution and mapping overlap with fisheries in the northeast Atlantic. *Ocean & coastal management*, 134, 140-149.
- Brodie, P. F. (1975). Cetacean energetics, an overview of intraspecific size variation. *Ecology*, 56(1), 152-161.
- Brook, B. W., Sodhi, N. S., & Bradshaw, C. J. (2008). Synergies among extinction drivers under global change. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 23(8), 453-460.
- Brown, J. L. (2014). SDMtoolbox User Guide. Available on: http://www.sdmtoolbox.org.
- Bruce, E., Albright, L., Sheehan, S., & Blewitt, M. (2014). Distribution patterns of migrating humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in Jervis Bay, Australia: A spatial analysis using geographical citizen science data. *Applied Geography*, 54, 83-95.
- Budic, L., Didenko, G., & Dormann, C. F. (2016). Squares of different sizes: effect of geographical projection on model parameter estimates in species distribution modeling. *Ecology and evolution*, 6(1), 202-211.
- Burek, K. A., Gulland, F. M., & O'Hara, T. M. (2008). Effects of climate change on Arctic marine mammal health. *Ecological Applications*, 18(sp2), S126-S134.
- Campos, C., & Horn, M. (2018). The Physical System of the Arctic Ocean and Subarctic Seas in a Changing Climate. In YOUMARES 8–Oceans Across Boundaries: Learning from each other (pp. 25-40). Springer, Cham.

- Carmack, E., & Wassmann, P. (2006). Food webs and physical-biological coupling on pan-Arctic shelves: unifying concepts and comprehensive perspectives. *Progress in Oceanography*, 71(2-4), 446-477.
- Carretta, J. V. (2018). A machine-learning approach to assign species to 'unidentified' entangled whales. *Endangered Species Research*, *36*, 89-98.
- Cheney, B., Thompson, P. M., Ingram, S. N., Hammond, P. S., Stevick, P. T., Durban, J. W., ... & Quick, N. J. (2013). Integrating multiple data sources to assess the distribution and abundance of bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus* in Scottish waters. *Mammal Review*, 43(1), 71-88.
- Clapham, P. J. (2000). The humpback whale. Cetacean Societies, field studies of dolphins and whales. Chicago: The University of Chicago, 173-196.
- Clapham, P. J., Young, S. B., & Brownell, R. L. (1999). Baleen whales: conservation issues and the status of the most endangered populations. *Mammal review*, *29*(1), 37-62.
- Cotté, C., Guinet, C., Taupier-Letage, I., Mate, B., & Petiau, E. (2009). Scale-dependent habitat use by a large free-ranging predator, the Mediterranean fin whale. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 56(5), 801-811.
- Croll, D. A., Tershy, B. R., Hewitt, R. P., Demer, D. A., Fiedler, P. C., Smith, S. E., Armstrong, W., Popp, J. M., Kiekhefer, T., Lopez, V. R., Urban, J., & Gendron, D. (1998) An integrated approach to the foraging ecology of marine birds and mammals. *Deep Sea Research* II, 45, 1353–1371.
- Croll D.A., Acevedo-Gutierrez A, Tershy B.R., Urban-Ramirez J. (2001). The diving behavior of blue and fin whales: Is dive duration shorter than expected based on oxygen stores? *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, 129(4), 797–809.
- Croll D.A., Marinovic B., Benson S., Chavez F.P., Black N., Ternullo R., Tershy B.R. (2005). From wind to whales: trophic links in a coastal upwelling system. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 289, 117–130.

- Dalpadado, P., Ellertsen, B., Melle, W., & Skjoldal, H. R. (1998). Summer distribution patterns and biomass estimates of macrozooplankton and micronekton in the Nordic Seas. *Sarsia*, 83(2), 103-116.
- Dalpadado, P., Ingvaldsen, R., & Hassel, A. (2003). Zooplankton biomass variation in relation to climatic conditions in the Barents Sea. *Polar Biology*, *26*(4), 233-241.
- Dalpadado, P., Hop, H., Rønning, J., Pavlov, V., Sperfeld, E., Buchholz, F., ... & Wold, A. (2016).
 Distribution and abundance of euphausiids and pelagic amphipods in Kongsfjorden, Isfjorden and Rijpfjorden (Svalbard) and changes in their relative importance as key prey in a warming marine ecosystem. *Polar Biology*, *39*(10), 1765-1784.
- De Boer, M. N. (2010). Cetacean distribution and relative abundance in offshore Gabonese waters. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 90(8), 1613-1621.
- De Boer, M. N. (2010). Spring distribution and density of minke whale *Balaenoptera acutorostrata* along an offshore bank in the central North Sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 408*, 265-274.
- Derville, S., Torres, L. G., Albertson, R., Andrews, O., Scott Baker, C., Carzon, P., ... & Oremus, M. (2019). Whales in warming water: assessing breeding habitat diversity and adaptability in Oceania's changing climate. *Global change biology*.
- Doniol-Valcroze, T., Berteaux, D., Larouche, P., & Sears, R. (2007). Influence of thermal fronts on habitat selection by four rorqual whale species in the Gulf of St. Lawrence. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 335, 207-216.
- Dormann, C., & Kaschner, K. (2010). Where's the sperm whale? A species distribution example analysis.
- Dormann, C. F. (2011). Modelling species' distributions. In *Modelling complex ecological dynamics* (pp. 179-196). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Dormann, C. F., Elith, J., Bacher, S., Buchmann, C., Carl, G., Carré, G., ... & Münkemüller, T. (2013). Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. *Ecography*, 36(1), 27-46.

- Drinkwater, K. (2009). Comparison of the response of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) in the highlatitude regions of the North Atlantic during the warm periods of the 1920s–1960s and the 1990s–2000s. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 56(21-22), 2087-2096.
- Druon, J. N., Panigada, S., David, L., Gannier, A., Mayol, P., Arcangeli, A., ... & Gauffier, P. (2012).
 Potential feeding habitat of fin whales in the western Mediterranean Sea: an environmental niche model. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 464, 289-306.
- Duengen, D. (2018). Spatial Distribution of Mysticetes and Odontocetes in the St. Lawrence estuary, with emphasis on minke whales (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*): individual differences in habitat use and behavioral responses to biopsies.
- Dudik, M. (2007). Maximum entropy density estimation and modeling geographic distributions of species. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 68(09).
- El-Gabbas, A., & Dormann, C. F. (2018). Improved species-occurrence predictions in data-poor regions: using large-scale data and bias correction with down-weighted Poisson regression and Maxent. Ecography, 41(7), 1161-1172.
- Elith, J., H. Graham, C., P. Anderson, R., Dudík, M., Ferrier, S., Guisan, A., ... & Li, J. (2006). Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. *Ecography*, 29(2), 129-151.
- Elith, J., Phillips, S. J., Hastie, T., Dudík, M., Chee, Y. E., & Yates, C. J. (2011). A statistical explanation of MaxEnt for ecologists. *Diversity and distributions*, *17*(1), 43-57.
- Edds, P. L., & Macfarlane, J. A. F. (1987). Occurrence and general behavior of balaenopterid cetaceans summering in the St. Lawrence Estuary, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 65(6), 1363-1376.
- Edwards, E. F., Hall, C., Moore, T. J., Sheredy, C., & Redfern, J. V. (2015). Global distribution of fin whales *Balaenoptera physalus* in the post-whaling era (1980–2012). *Mammal Review*, 45(4), 197-214.

- Falk-Petersen, S., Pavlov, V., Berge, J., Cottier, F., Kovacs, K. M., & Lydersen, C. (2015). At the rainbow's end: high productivity fueled by winter upwelling along an Arctic shelf. *Polar Biology*, 38(1), 5-11.
- Fauchald, P., & Erikstad, K. E. (2002). Scale-dependent predator-prey interactions: the aggregative response of seabirds to prey under variable prey abundance and patchiness. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 231*, 279-291.
- Fauchald, P. (2009). Spatial interaction between seabirds and prey: review and synthesis. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 391, 139-151.
- Forcada, J., Aguilar, A., Hammond, P., Pastor, X., & Aguilar, R. (1996). Distribution and abundance of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) in the western Mediterranean Sea during the summer. *Journal of Zoology*, 238(1), 23-34.
- Fourcade, Y., Engler, J. O., Besnard, A. G., Rödder, D., & Secondi, J. (2013). Confronting expertbased and modelled distributions for species with uncertain conservation status: a case study from the corncrake (*Crex crex*). *Biological Conservation*, *167*, 161-171.
- Fossheim, M., Primicerio, R., Johannesen, E., Ingvaldsen, R. B., Aschan, M. M., & Dolgov, A. V. (2015). Recent warming leads to a rapid borealization of fish communities in the Arctic. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(7), 673.
- Franklin, J. (2010). Mapping species distributions: spatial inference and prediction. *Cambridge University Press.*
- Freitas, C., Kovacs, K. M., Ims, R. A., Fedak, M. A., & Lydersen, C. (2009). Deep into the ice: over-wintering and habitat selection in male Atlantic walruses. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 375, 247-261.
- Friedlaender, A. S., Halpin, P. N., Qian, S. S., Lawson, G. L., Wiebe, P. H., Thiele, D., & Read, A. J. (2006). Whale distribution in relation to prey abundance and oceanographic processes in shelf waters of the Western Antarctic Peninsula. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 317, 297-310.

- Friedlaender, A. S., Lawson, G. L., & Halpin, P. N. (2009). Evidence of resource partitioning between humpback and minke whales around the western Antarctic Peninsula. *Marine Mammal Science*, 25(2), 402-415.
- Gaskin, D. E. (1982). Ecology of whales and dolphins. Heinemann.
- Gavrilchuk, K., Lesage, V., Ramp, C., Sears, R., Bérubé, M., Bearhop, S., & Beauplet, G. (2014).
 Trophic niche partitioning among sympatric baleen whale species following the collapse of groundfish stocks in the Northwest Atlantic. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 497, 285-301.
- Geijer, C. K., Notarbartolo di Sciara, G., & Panigada, S. (2016). Mysticete migration revisited: are Mediterranean fin whales an anomaly?. *Mammal Review*, *46*(4), 284-296.
- Gende, S. M., & Sigler, M. F. (2006). Persistence of forage fish 'hot spots' and its association with foraging Steller sea lions (*Eumetopias jubatus*) in southeast Alaska. Deep Sea Research Part II: *Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 53(3-4), 432-441.
- Gill, P. C., Morrice, M. G., Page, B., Pirzl, R., Levings, A. H., & Coyne, M. (2011). Blue whale habitat selection and within-season distribution in a regional upwelling system off southern Australia. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 421, 243-263.
- Gjøsæter, H. (2009). 16. Commercial fisheries (fish, seafood and marine mammals). *Ecosystem Barents Sea*, 373-414.
- Gjøsæter, H., Bogstad, B., & Tjelmeland, S. (2009). Ecosystem effects of the three capelin stock collapses in the Barents Sea. *Marine Biology Research*, *5*(1), 40-53.
- Gluchowska, M., Kwasniewski, S., Prominska, A., Olszewska, A., Goszczko, I., Falk-Petersen, S.,
 & Weslawski, J. M. (2016). Zooplankton in Svalbard fjords on the Atlantic–Arctic boundary. *Polar Biology*, 39(10), 1785-1802.
- Goldbogen, J. A., Calambokidis, J., Shadwick, R. E., Oleson, E. M., McDonald, M. A., & Hildebrand, J. A. (2006). Kinematics of foraging dives and lunge-feeding in fin whales. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 209(7), 1231-1244.

- Goldbogen, J. A., Pyenson, N. D., & Shadwick, R. E. (2007). Big gulps require high drag for fin whale lunge feeding. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 349, 289-301.
- Graham, M. H. (2003). Confronting multicollinearity in ecological multiple regression. *Ecology*, *84*(11), 2809-2815.
- Grinnell, J. (1904). The origin and distribution of the chest-nut-backed chickadee. *The Auk*, 21(3), 364-382.
- Guerrero, J. A. (1989). Feeding behavior of gray whales in relation to patch dynamics of their benthic prey.
- Guisan, A., Tingley, R., Baumgartner, J. B., Naujokaitis-Lewis, I., Sutcliffe, P. R., Tulloch, A. I., & Martin, T. G. (2013). Predicting species distributions for conservation decisions. *Ecology letters*, 16(12), 1424-1435.
- Hacquebord, L. (1999). The hunting of the Greenland right whale in Svalbard, its interaction with climate and its impact on the marine ecosystem. *Polar Research*, *18*(2), 375-382.
- Hain, H. W. J., Carter, R., Kraus, D., Mayo, A., & Winni, E. (1982). Feeding behavior of the humpback whale, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, in the western North Atlantic. *Fishery Bulletin*, 80(2).
- Hamilton, P. K., Stone, G. S., & Martin, S. M. (1997). Note on a deep humpback whale *Megaptera* novaeangliae dive near Bermuda. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, *61*(2), 491-494.
- Hansen, R. G., Boye, T. H., Larsen, R. S., Nielsen, N. H., Tervo, O., Nielsen, R. D., ... & Heide-Jørgensen, M. P. (2018). Abundance of whales in West and East Greenland in summer 2015. *bioRxiv*, 391680.
- Harley, C. D., Randall Hughes, A., Hultgren, K. M., Miner, B. G., Sorte, C. J., Thornber, C. S., ...
 & Williams, S. L. (2006). The impacts of climate change in coastal marine systems. *Ecology letters*, 9(2), 228-241.

- Harris, C. L., Plueddemann, A. J., & Gawarkiewicz, G. G. (1998). Water mass distribution and polar front structure in the western Barents Sea. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, 103(C2), 2905-2917.
- Hátún, H., Payne, M. R., Beaugrand, G., Reid, P. C., Sandø, A. B., Drange, H., ... & Bloch, D. (2009). Large bio-geographical shifts in the north-eastern Atlantic Ocean: From the subpolar gyre, via plankton, to blue whiting and pilot whales. *Progress in Oceanography*, 80(3-4), 149-162.
- Haug, T., Lindstrøm, U., & Nilssen, K. T. (2002). Variations in minke whale (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) diet and body condition in response to ecosystem changes in the Barents Sea. Sarsia: North Atlantic Marine Science, 87(6), 409-422.
- Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Witting, L., & Jensen, M. V. (2003). Inshore-offshore movements of two fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) tracked by satellite off West Greenland. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management*, 5(3), 241-245.
- Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Simon, M. J., & Laidre, K. L. (2007). Estimates of large whale abundance in Greenlandic waters from a ship-based survey in 2005. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management*, 92, 95-104.
- Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Borchers, D. L., Witting, L., Laidre, K. L., Simon, M. J., Rosing-Asvid, A., & Pike, D. G. (2008). 119 Estimates of large whale abundance in West Greenland waters from an aerial survey in 2005. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management*, 10(2), 119-129.
- Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Laidre, K. L., Simon, M., Burt, M. L., Borchers, D. L., & Rasmussen, M. (2010). Abundance of fin whales in West Greenland in 2007. *Journal of Cetacean Research* and Management, 11(2), 83-88.
- Hijmans, R. J. (2015). Geographic Data Analysis and Modeling [R package raster version 2.9-5].
- Hjermann, D. Ø., Stenseth, N. C., & Ottersen, G. (2004). Indirect climatic forcing of the Barents Sea capelin: a cohort effect. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 273, 229-238.

- Hoelzel, A. R., Dorsey, E. M., & Stern, S. J. (1989). The foraging specializations of individual minke whales. *Animal Behaviour*, 38(5), 786-794.
- Horn, M. (2018). Freshwater variability in the Arctic Ocean and subarctic North Atlantic (Doctoral dissertation, Staats-und Universitaetsbibliothek Bremen).
- Huse, G., Holst, J. C., Utne, K., Nøttestad, L., Melle, W., Slotte, A., ... & Uiblein, F. (2012). Effects of interactions between fish populations on ecosystem dynamics in the Norwegian Sea-results of the INFERNO project.
- ICES (2010a). ICES Report on Ocean Climate 2009. ICES Cooperative Research Report No. 304, p. 71.
- ICES (2010b). Report of the Working Group on Widely Distributed Stocks (WGWIDE), 28 August–3 September 2010, Vigo, Spain. ICES CM 2010/ACOM:15, 612 pp.
- Ingram, S. N., Walshe, L., Johnston, D., & Rogan, E. (2007). Habitat partitioning and the influence of benthic topography and oceanography on the distribution of fin and minke whales in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 87(1), 149-156.
- Ingvaldsen, R. (2005). Width of the North Cape Current and location of the Polar Front in the western Barents Sea. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *32*(16).
- Ingvaldsen, R., & Loeng, H. (2009). Physical oceanography. *Ecosystem Barents Sea. Tapir* Academic Press, Trondheim, 33-64.
- Jay, C. V., & Fischbach, A. S. (2008). Pacific walrus response to Arctic sea ice losses (p. 4). US Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey.
- Johannesen, E., Ingvaldsen, R. B., Bogstad, B., Dalpadado, P., Eriksen, E., Gjøsæter, H., ... & Stiansen, J. E. (2012). Changes in Barents Sea ecosystem state, 1970–2009: climate fluctuations, human impact, and trophic interactions. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 69(5), 880-889.

- Johnston, D. W., Thorne, L. H., & Read, A. J. (2005). Fin whales *Balaenoptera physalus* and minke whales *Balaenoptera acutorostrata* exploit a tidally driven island wake ecosystem in the Bay of Fundy. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 305, 287-295.
- Joiris, C. R. (2012). Possible impact of decreasing Arctic pack ice on the higher trophic levels seabirds and marine mammals. *Environmental Research Journal*, 6(1).
- Joiris, C. R., Falck, E., D'Hert, D., Jungblut, S., & Boos, K. (2014). An important late summer aggregation of fin whales *Balaenoptera physalus*, little auks *Alle alle* and Brünnich's guillemots *Uria lomvia* in the eastern Greenland Sea and Fram Strait: influence of hydrographic structures. *Polar biology*, 37(11), 1645-1657.
- Jonsgård, Å. (1966). Biology of the North Atlantic Fin Whale *Balaenoptera physalus. Taxonomy, Distribution, Migration and Food.* Universitetsforlaget.
- Kaschner, K., Watson, R., Trites, A. W., & Pauly, D. (2006). Mapping world-wide distributions of marine mammal species using a relative environmental suitability (RES) model. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 316, 285-310.
- Katona, S. K., Rough, V., & Richardson, D. T. (1993). A Field Guide to Whales. Porpoises and Seals from Cape Cod to New Foundland.
- Kawamura, A. (1980). A review of food of balaenopterid whales. *Scientific Report of the Whales Research Institute*, 32, 155-197.
- Kearney, M., & Porter, W. (2009). Mechanistic niche modelling: combining physiological and spatial data to predict species' ranges. *Ecology letters*, *12*(4), 334-350.
- Kenney, R. D., Hyman, M. A., Owen, R. E., Scott, G. P., & Winn, H. E. (1986). Estimation of prey densities required by western North Atlantic right whales. *Marine Mammal Science*, 2(1), 1-13.
- Kimura, T. (2005). Evolution of feeding strategies in the Mysticeti. *The Paleontological Society of Japan*, 77, 14-21.

- Kortsch, S., Primicerio, R., Fossheim, M., Dolgov, A. V., & Aschan, M. (2015). Climate change alters the structure of arctic marine food webs due to poleward shifts of boreal generalists. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1814), 20151546.
- Kovacs, K. M., & Lydersen, C. (2008). Climate change impacts on seals and whales in the North Atlantic Arctic and adjacent shelf seas. *Science Progress*, 91(2), 117-150.
- Kovacs, K. M., Haug, T., & Lydersen, C. (2009). Chapter 18. Marine mammals of the Barents Sea. *Ecosystem Barents Sea*.
- Kovacs, K. M., Lydersen, C., Overland, J. E., & Moore, S. E. (2011). Impacts of changing sea-ice conditions on Arctic marine mammals. *Marine Biodiversity*, 41(1), 181-194.
- Kraus, S. D., Brown, M. W., Caswell, H., Clark, C. W., Fujiwara, M., Hamilton, P. K., ... & McLellan, W. A. (2005). North Atlantic right whales in crisis. Science, 309(5734), 561-562.
- Kruse, F. (2016). Is Svalbard a pristine ecosystem? Reconstructing 420 years of human presence in an Arctic archipelago. *Polar Record*, *52*(5), 518-534.
- Laidre, K. L., Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Heagerty, P., Cossio, A., Bergström, B., & Simon, M. (2010). Spatial associations between large baleen whales and their prey in West Greenland. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 402, 269-284.
- Laidre, K. L., Stern, H., Kovacs, K. M., Lowry, L., Moore, S. E., Regehr, E. V., ... & Born, E. W. (2015). Arctic marine mammal population status, sea ice habitat loss, and conservation recommendations for the 21st century. *Conservation Biology*, 29(3), 724-737.
- Lambertsen, R. H. (1983). Internal mechanism of rorqual feeding. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 64(1),76-88.
- Laran, S., & Gannier, A. (2008). Spatial and temporal prediction of fin whale distribution in the northwestern Mediterranean Sea. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, *65*(7), 1260-1269.
- Lavender, S., Jackson, T., & Sathyendranath, S. (2015). The ocean colour climate change initiative. *Ocean Challenge*, 21(1), 3.

- Littaye, A., Gannier, A., Laran, S., & Wilson, J. P. (2004). The relationship between summer aggregation of fin whales and satellite-derived environmental conditions in the northwestern Mediterranean Sea. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, *90*(1), 44-52.
- Locarnini, R. A., A. V. Mishonov, O. K. Baranova, T. P. Boyer, M. M. Zweng, H. E. Garcia, J. R. Reagan, D. Seidov, K. Weathers, C. R. Paver, and I. Smolyar, 2018. *World Ocean Atlas 2018, Volume 1: Temperature.* A. Mishonov Technical Ed.; NOAA Atlas NESDIS 81, 52 pp.
- Lockyer, C. (1981). Growth and energy budgets of large baleen whales from the Southern Hemisphere. *Mammals in the seas*, *3*, 379-487.
- Lockyer, C. H., & Brown, S. G. (1981). The migration of whales. In *Animal migration* (Vol. 13, pp. 105-137). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Lockyer, C. (1986). Body fat condition in Northeast Atlantic fin whales, *Balaenoptera physalus*, and its relationship with reproduction and food resource. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 43(1), 142-147.
- Loeng, H., & Drinkwater, K. (2007). An overview of the ecosystems of the Barents and Norwegian Seas and their response to climate variability. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 54(23-26), 2478-2500.
- Lynas, E. M., & Sylvestre, J. P. (1988). Feeding techniques and foraging strategies of minke whales (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) in the St. Lawrence River estuary. *Aquat Mamm*, 14(1), 21-32.
- Macleod, K., Fairbairns, R., Gill, A., Fairbairns, B., Gordon, J., Blair-Myers, C., & Parsons, E. C. (2004). Seasonal distribution of minke whales *Balaenoptera acutorostrata* in relation to physiography and prey off the Isle of Mull, Scotland. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 277, 263-274.
- Markus, T., & Cavalieri, D. J. (2009). The AMSR-E NT2 sea ice concentration algorithm: Its basis and implementation. *Journal of The Remote Sensing Society of Japan, 29*(1), 216-225.
- Meier, W. N., & Stroeve, J. (2008). Comparison of sea-ice extent and ice-edge location estimates from passive microwave and enhanced-resolution scatterometer data. *Annals of Glaciology*, 48, 65-70.
- Melle, W., Ellertsen, B., & Skjoldal, H. R. (2004). Zooplankton: the link to higher trophic levels. *The Norwegian Sea Ecosystem*, 137-202.
- Merow, C., Smith, M. J., & Silander Jr, J. A. (2013). A practical guide to MaxEnt for modeling species' distributions: what it does, and why inputs and settings matter. *Ecography*, 36(10), 1058-1069.
- Methion, S., & López, B. D. (2019). First record of atypical pigmentation pattern in fin whale Balaenoptera physalus in the Atlantic Ocean. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 135(2), 121-125.
- Mikkelsen, B., Bloch, D., & Heide-Jørgensen, M. P. (2007). A note on movements of two fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) tracked by satellite telemetry from the Faroe Islands in 2001. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management*, 9(2), 115.
- Mizroch, S. A., Rice, D. W., Zwiefelhofer, D., Waite, J., & Perryman, W. L. (2009). Distribution and movements of fin whales in the North Pacific Ocean. *Mammal Review*, *39*(3), 193-227.
- Moore S.E., Grebmeier J.M., Davies J.R. (2003). Gray whale distribution relative to forage habitat in the northern Bering Sea: current conditions and retrospective summary. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 81, 734–742.
- Muscarella, R., Galante, P. J., Soley-Guardia, M., Boria, R. A., Kass, J. M., Uriarte, M., & Anderson, R. P. (2014). ENMeval: An R package for conducting spatially independent evaluations and estimating optimal model complexity for Maxent ecological niche models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5(11), 1198-1205.
- Naud, M. J., Long, B., Brêthes, J. C., & Sears, R. (2003). Influences of underwater bottom topography and geomorphology on minke whale (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) distribution in the Mingan Islands (Canada). *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 83(4), 889-896.

- NAMMCO (2018) Report of the Global Review of Monodontids, 13–16 March 2017, Hillerød, Denmark, https://nammco.no/
- Nemoto, T. (1957). Foods of baleen whales in the northern Pacific. Sci. Rep. Whales Res. Inst. Tokyo, 12, 33-89.
- Nemoto, T. (1959). Food of baleen whales with reference to whale movements. *Sci. Rep. Whales Res. Inst*, 14, 149-290.
- Nøttestad, L., & Olsen, E. (2004). Whales and seals: top predators in the ecosystem. *The Norwegian Sea Ecosystem*, 395-434.
- Nøttestad, L., Krafft, B. A., Søiland, H., & Skaret, G. (2014). Observations of cetaceans in the south-east Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean, during summer 2008. *Polar biology*, 37(6), 891-895.
- Nøttestad, L., Sivle, L. D., Krafft, B. A., Langård, L., Anthonypillai, V., Bernasconi, M., ... & Axelsen, B. E. (2014). Ecological aspects of fin whale and humpback whale distribution during summer in the Norwegian Sea. *Marine ecology*, 35(2), 221-232.
- Orton, L. S., & Brodie, P. F. (1987). Engulfing mechanics of fin whales. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 65(12), 2898-2907.
- Overholtz, W. J., & Nicolas, J. R. (1979). Apparent feeding by the fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*) and humpback whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) on the American sand lance (*Ammodytes americanus*) in the Northwest Atlantic. *Fishery Bulletin*, 77(1), 285-287.
- Overland, J. E., Spillane, M. C., & Soreide, N. N. (2004). Integrated analysis of physical and biological pan-Arctic change. *Climatic Change*, *63*(3), 291-322.
- Overland, J. E., & Wang, M. (2013). When will the summer Arctic be nearly sea ice free? Geophysical Research Letters, 40(10), 2097-2101.

- Owen, K., Kavanagh, A. S., Warren, J. D., Noad, M. J., Donnelly, D., Goldizen, A. W., & Dunlop, R. A. (2017). Potential energy gain by whales outside of the Antarctic: prey preferences and consumption rates of migrating humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*). *Polar Biology*, 40(2), 277-289.
- Palialexis, A., Georgakarakos, S., Karakassis, I., Lika, K., & Valavanis, V. D. (2011). Prediction of marine species distribution from presence–absence acoustic data: comparing the fitting efficiency and the predictive capacity of conventional and novel distribution models. *Hydrobiologia*, 670(1), 241.
- Parkinson, C. L., Cavalieri, D. J., Gloersen, P., Zwally, H. J., & Comiso, J. C. (1999). Arctic sea ice extents, areas, and trends, 1978–1996. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, 104(C9), 20837-20856.
- Parsons, J. L., and Brownlie, J.E. (1981). Distribution and abundance of marine mammals of the Grand Banks, 1980- 1981. Final report by Maclaren Plansearch, Mobil Oil Canada Ltd.
- Panigada, S., Zanardelli, M., Canese, S., & Jahoda, M. (1999). How deep can baleen whales dive?. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 187, 309-311.
- Panigada, S., Di Sciara, G. N., Panigada, M. Z., Airoldi, S., Borsani, J. F., & Jahoda, M. (2005). Fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) summering in the Ligurian Sea: distribution, encounter rate, mean group size and relation to physiographic variables. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management*, 7(2), 137.
- Panigada S., Zanardelli M., MacKenzie M., Donovan C., Mélin F., Hammond P.S. (2008).
 Modelling habitat preferences for fin whales and striped dolphins in the Pelagos Sanctuary (Western Mediterranean Sea) with physiographic and remote sensing variables. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 112:3400-3412.
- Payne, P. M., Wiley, D. N., Young, S. B., Pittman, S., Clapham, P. J., & Jossi, J. W. (1990). Recent fluctuations in the abundance of baleen whales in the southern Gulf of Maine in relation to changes in selected prey. *Fishery Bulletin*, 88(4), 687-696.

- Pearson, R. G., & Dawson, T. P. (2003). Predicting the impacts of climate change on the distribution of species: are bioclimate envelope models useful?. *Global ecology and biogeography*, *12*(5), 361-371.
- Perkins, J., & Whitehead, H. (1977). Observations on three species of baleen whales off northern Newfoundland and adjacent waters. *Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada*, 34(9), 1436-1440.
- Pershing, A. J., Record, N. R., Monger, B. C., Mayo, C. A., Brown, M. W., Cole, T. V., ... & Woodard, L. A. (2009). Model-based estimates of right whale habitat use in the Gulf of Maine. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 378, 245-257.
- Phillips, S. J., Dudík, M., & Schapire, R. E. (2004). A maximum entropy approach to species distribution modeling. In *Proceedings of the twenty-first international conference on Machine learning* (p. 83). ACM.
- Phillips, S. J., Anderson, R. P., & Schapire, R. E. (2006). Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. *Ecological modelling*, 190(3-4), 231-259.
- Phillips, S. J., & Dudík, M. (2008). Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. *Ecography*, 31(2), 161-175.
- Phillips, S. J., Anderson, R. P., Dudík, M., Schapire, R. E., & Blair, M. E. (2017). Opening the black box: an open-source release of Maxent. *Ecography*, 40(7), 887-893.
- Piatt, J. F., & Methven, D. A. (1992). Threshold foraging behavior of baleen whales. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 84, 205–210.
- Pike, D., Gunnlaugsson, T., Øien, N., Desportes, G., Vikingsson, G. A., Paxton, C. G. M., & Bloch, D. (2005). Distribution, abundance and trends in abundance of fin and humpback whales in the North Atlantic. ICES.
- Pistone, K., Eisenman, I., & Ramanathan, V. (2014). Observational determination of albedo decrease caused by vanishing Arctic sea ice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(9), 3322-3326.

- Prieto, R., Tobeña, M., & Silva, M. A. (2017). Habitat preferences of baleen whales in a midlatitude habitat. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 141, 155-167.
- Qu, B., Gabric, A. J., & Matrai, P. A. (2006). The satellite-derived distribution of chlorophyll-a and its relation to ice cover, radiation and sea surface temperature in the Barents Sea. *Polar Biology*, 29(3), 196-210.
- Ramp, C., Delarue, J., Palsbøll, P. J., Sears, R., & Hammond, P. S. (2015). Adapting to a warmer ocean—seasonal shift of baleen whale movements over three decades. *PLoS One*, 10(3), e0121374.
- Redfern, J. V., Ferguson, M. C., Becker, E. A., Hyrenbach, K. D., Good, C., Barlow, J., ... & Fauchald, P. (2006). Techniques for cetacean–habitat modeling. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 310, 271-295.
- Reiss, H., Cunze, S., König, K., Neumann, H., & Kröncke, I. (2011). Species distribution modelling of marine benthos: a North Sea case study. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 442, 71-86.
- Ressler, P. H., Dalpadado, P., Macaulay, G. J., Handegard, N., & Skern-Mauritzen, M. (2015). Acoustic surveys of euphausiids and models of baleen whale distribution in the Barents Sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 527, 13-29.
- Rey, F. (2004). Phytoplankton: the grass of the sea. The Norwegian Sea Ecosystem, 6(1), 97-136.
- Ribic, C. A., Ainley, D. G., & Fraser, W. R. (1991). Habitat selection by marine mammals in the marginal ice zone. *Antarctic Science*, *3*(2), 181-186.
- Robinson, K. P., Tetley, M. J., & Mitchelson-Jacob, E. G. (2009). The distribution and habitat preference of coastally occurring minke whales (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) in the outer southern Moray Firth, northeast Scotland. *Journal of Coastal Conservation*, 13(1), 39-48.
- Robinson, L. M., Elith, J., Hobday, A. J., Pearson, R. G., Kendall, B. E., Possingham, H. P., & Richardson, A. J. (2011). Pushing the limits in marine species distribution modelling: lessons from the land present challenges and opportunities. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 20(6), 789-802.

- Rørvik, C. J. (1976). Fin whales, *Balaenoptera physalus*, off the west coast of Iceland: distribution, segregation by length amd expolitation. *Hafrannsóknastofnunin*.
- Sakshaug, E., Johnsen, G. H., & Kovacs, K. M. (Eds.). (2009). *Ecosystem Barents Sea*. Tapir Academic Press.
- Santora, J. A., Reiss, C. S., Loeb, V. J., & Veit, R. R. (2010). Spatial association between hotspots of baleen whales and demographic patterns of Antarctic krill *Euphausia superba* suggests size-dependent predation. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 405, 255-269.
- Sathyendranath, S., Grant, M., Brewin, R. J. W., Brockmann, C., Brotas, V., Chuprin, A., ... & Jackson, T. (2018). Version 3.1 Data, Centre for Environmental Data Analysis.
- Šavrič, B., Jenny, B., & Jenny, H. (2016). Projection wizard–An online map projection selection tool. *The Cartographic Journal*, *53*(2), 177-185.
- Scheidat, M., Friedlaender, A., Kock, K. H., Lehnert, L., Boebel, O., Roberts, J., & Williams, R. (2011). Cetacean surveys in the Southern Ocean using icebreaker-supported helicopters. *Polar Biology*, 34(10), 1513-1522.
- Schipper, J., Chanson, J. S., Chiozza, F., Cox, N. A., Hoffmann, M., Katariya, V., ... & Baillie, J. (2008). The status of the world's land and marine mammals: diversity, threat, and knowledge. Science, 322(5899), 225-230.
- Schleimer, A., Ramp, C., Delarue, J., Carpentier, A., Bérubé, M., Palsbøll, P. J., ... & Hammond, P.
 S. (2019). Decline in abundance and apparent survival rates of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) in the northern Gulf of St. Lawrence. *Ecology and evolution*, 9(7), 4231-4244.
- Schleimer, A., Ramp, C., Plourde, S., Lehoux, C., Sears, R., & Hammond, P. S. (2019). Spatiotemporal patterns in fin whale *Balaenoptera physalus* habitat use in the northern Gulf of St. Lawrence. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 623, 221-234.
- Schoener, T. W. (1968). The Anolis lizards of Bimini: resource partitioning in a complex fauna. Ecology, 49(4), 704-726.

- Serreze, M. C., & Francis, J. A. (2006). The Arctic amplification debate, *Climate Change*, 76, 241–264.
- Sigurjónsson, J., & Víkingsson, G. A. (1997). Seasonal abundance of and estimated food consumption by cetaceans in Icelandic and adjacent waters. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science*, 22, 271-287.
- Simard, Y., Lavoie, D., & Saucier, F. J. (2002). Channel head dynamics: capelin (*Mallotus villosus*) aggregation in the tidally driven upwelling system of the Saguenay-St. Lawrence Marine Park's whale feeding ground. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 59(2), 197-210.
- Simon, M., Stafford, K. M., Beedholm, K., Lee, C. M., & Madsen, P. T. (2010). Singing behavior of fin whales in the Davis Strait with implications for mating, migration and foraging. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 128(5), 3200-3210.
- Simon, M. J. (2010). The sounds of whales and their food: Baleen whales, their foraging behaviour, ecology and habitat use in an arctic habitat (Doctoral Dissertation, Aarhus Universitet).
- Širović, A., Hildebrand, J. A., Wiggins, S. M., McDonald, M. A., Moore, S. E., & Thiele, D. (2004). Seasonality of blue and fin whale calls and the influence of sea ice in the Western Antarctic Peninsula. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 51(17-19), 2327-2344.
- Širović, A., Hildebrand, J. A., Wiggins, S. M., & Thiele, D. (2009). Blue and fin whale acoustic presence around Antarctica during 2003 and 2004. *Marine Mammal Science*, 25(1), 125-136.
- Skern-Mauritzen, M., Skaug, H. J., & Øien, N. (2009). Line transects, environmental data and GIS: Cetacean distribution, habitat and prey selection along the Barents Sea shelf edge. *NAMMCO Scientific Publications*, 7, 179-200.
- Skern-Mauritzen, M., Johannesen, E., Bjørge, A., & Øien, N. (2011). Baleen whale distributions and prey associations in the Barents Sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *426*, 289-301.

- Smolik, M. G., Dullinger, S., Essl, F., Kleinbauer, I., Leitner, M., Peterseil, J., ... & Vogl, G. (2010). Integrating species distribution models and interacting particle systems to predict the spread of an invasive alien plant. *Journal of Biogeography*, 37(3), 411-422.
- Soule, D. C., & Wilcock, W. S. (2013). Fin whale tracks recorded by a seismic network on the Juan de Fuca Ridge, Northeast Pacific Ocean. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 133(3), 1751-1761.
- Spreen, G., Kaleschke, L., & Heygster, G. (2008). Sea ice remote sensing using AMSR-E 89-GHz channels. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 113*(C2).
- Springer, A. M., McRoy, C. P., & Flint, M. V. (1996). The Bering Sea Green Belt: shelf edge processes and ecosystem production. *Fisheries Oceanography*, 5, 205–223.
- Stafford, K. M., Citta, J. J., Moore, S. E., Daher, M. A., & George, J. E. (2009). Environmental correlates of blue and fin whale call detections in the North Pacific Ocean from 1997 to 2002. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 395, 37-53.
- Stevick, P. T., Incze, L. S., Kraus, S. D., Rosen, S., Wolff, N., & Baukus, A. (2008). Trophic relationships and oceanography on and around a small offshore bank. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 363, 15-28.
- Stern, S. J. (2009). Migration and movement patterns. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* (Second Edition) (pp. 726-730).
- Stiansen J., Filin A. E. (2008). Joint PINRO/IMR Report on the state of the Barents Sea ecosystem in 2007, with expected situation and considerations for management, Vol. 1. IMRPINRO Joint Report Series, Institute of Marine Research, Bergen
- Stone, G. S., Katona, S. K., Mainwaring, A., Allen, J. M., & Corbett, H. D. (1992). Respiration and surfacing rates of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) observed from a lighthouse tower. *Report of the International Whaling Commission*, 42(739-745).
- Storrie, L., Lydersen, C., Andersen, M., Wynn, R. B., & Kovacs, K. M. (2018). Determining the species assemblage and habitat use of cetaceans in the Svalbard Archipelago, based on observations from 2002 to 2014. *Polar Research*, 37(1), 1463065.

- Stroeve, J. C., Serreze, M. C., Holland, M. M., Kay, J. E., Malanik, J., & Barrett, A. P. (2012). The Arctic's rapidly shrinking sea ice cover: a research synthesis. Climatic Change, 110(3-4), 1005-1027.
- Tetley, M. J., Mitchelson-Jacob, E. G., & Robinson, K. P. (2008). The summer distribution of coastal minke whales (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) in the southern outer Moray Firth, NE Scotland, in relation to co-occurring mesoscale oceanographic features. *Remote Sensing of Environment, 112*(8), 3449-3454.
- Tomczak, M., & Godfrey, J. S. (2013). Regional oceanography: an introduction. Elsevier.
- Trathan, P. N., Forcada, J., & Murphy, E. J. (2007). Environmental forcing and Southern Ocean marine predator populations: effects of climate change and variability. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 362(1488), 2351-2365.
- Tsujii, K., Otsuki, M., Akamatsu, T., Matsuo, I., Amakasu, K., Kitamura, M., ... & Mitani, Y. (2016). The migration of fin whales into the southern Chukchi Sea as monitored with passive acoustics. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 73(8), 2085-2092.
- Tulloch, V. J., Plagányi, É. E., Matear, R., Brown, C. J., & Richardson, A. J. (2018). Ecosystem modelling to quantify the impact of historical whaling on Southern Hemisphere baleen whales. *Fish and fisheries*, 19(1), 117-137.
- Tulloch, V. J., Plagányi, É. E., Brown, C., Richardson, A. J., & Matear, R. (2019). Future recovery of baleen whales is imperiled by climate change. *Global Change Biology*.
- Tyberghein, L., Verbruggen, H., Pauly, K., Troupin, C., Mineur, F., & De Clerck, O. (2012). Bio-ORACLE: a global environmental dataset for marine species distribution modelling. *Global* ecology and biogeography, 21(2), 272-281.
- Valavi, R., Elith, J., Lahoz-Monfort, J. J., & Guillera-Arroita, G. (2018). blockCV: an R package for generating spatially or environmentally separated folds for k-fold cross-validation of species distribution models. *bioRxiv*, 357798.

- Valavanis, V. D., Pierce, G. J., Zuur, A. F., Palialexis, A., Saveliev, A., Katara, I., & Wang, J. (2008).
 Modelling of essential fish habitat based on remote sensing, spatial analysis and GIS. In *Essential Fish Habitat Mapping in the Mediterranean* (pp. 5-20). Springer, Dordrecht.
- van Franeker, J. A. (1992). Top predators as indicators for ecosystem events in the confluence zone and marginal ice zone of the Weddell and Scotia seas, Antarctica, November 1988 to January 1989 (EPOS Leg 2). In *Weddell Sea Ecology* (pp. 93-102). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Verity, P. G., Smetacek, V., & Smayda, T. J. (2002). Status, trends and the future of the marine pelagic ecosystem. *Environmental Conservation*, 29(2), 207-237.
- Víkingsson, G. A. (1997). Feeding of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) off Iceland–diurnal and seasonal variation and possible rates. *Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science*, 22, 77-89.
- Víkingsson, G. A., Pike, D. G., Desportes, G., Øien, N., Gunnlaugsson, T., & Bloch, D. (2009). Distribution and abundance of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) in the Northeast and Central Atlantic as inferred from the North Atlantic Sightings Surveys 1987-2001. *NAMMCO Sci. Publ*, 7, 49-72.
- Víkingsson, G. A., Pike, D. G., Valdimarsson, H., Schleimer, A., Gunnlaugsson, T., Silva, T., ... & Bogason, V. (2015). Distribution, abundance, and feeding ecology of baleen whales in Icelandic waters: have recent environmental changes had an effect? *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 3, 6.
- Visser, F., Hartman, K. L., Pierce, G. J., Valavanis, V. D., & Huisman, J. (2011). Timing of migratory baleen whales at the Azores in relation to the North Atlantic spring bloom. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 440, 267-279.
- Walther, G. R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T. J., ... & Bairlein, F. (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature*, 416(6879), 389.

- Warren, D. L., Glor, R. E., & Turelli, M. (2008). Environmental niche equivalency versus conservatism: quantitative approaches to niche evolution. Evolution: *International Journal* of Organic Evolution, 62(11), 2868-2883.
- Wassmann, P., Reigstad, M., Haug, T., Rudels, B., Carroll, M. L., Hop, H., ... & Slagstad, D. (2006).
 Food webs and carbon flux in the Barents Sea. *Progress in Oceanography*, 71(2-4), 232-287.
- Wassmann, P., Duarte, C. M., Agusti, S., & Sejr, M. K. (2011). Footprints of climate change in the Arctic marine ecosystem. *Global change biology*, *17*(2), 1235-1249.
- Watkins, W. A., Moore, K. E., Sigurjonsson, J., Wartzok, D., & Di Sciara, G. N. (1984). Fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*) tracked by radio in the Irminger Sea. *Hafrannsoknastofnunin*
- Weatherall, P., Marks, K. M., Jakobsson, M., Schmitt, T., Tani, S., Arndt, J. E., ... & Wigley, R. (2015). A new digital bathymetric model of the world's oceans. *Earth and Space Science*, 2(8), 331-345.
- Weinrich, M. T., Schilling, M. R., & Belt, C. R. (1992). Evidence for acquisition of a novel feeding behaviour: lobtail feeding in humpback whales, *Megaptera novaeangliae*. *Animal behaviour*, 44(6), 1059-1072.
- Wekerle, C., Wang, Q., von Appen, W. J., Danilov, S., Schourup-Kristensen, V., & Jung, T. (2017). Eddy-resolving simulation of the Atlantic Water Circulation in the Fram Strait with focus on the seasonal cycle. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, 122(11), 8385-8405.
- Werth, A. J. (2000). Feeding in marine mammals. Feeding: form, function and evolution in tetrapod vertebrates, 475-514.
- Węsławski, J. M., Zajaczkowski, M., Kwaśniewski, S., Jezierski, J., & Moskal, W. (1988). Seasonality in an Arctic fjord ecosystem: Hornsund, Spitsbergen. *Polar Research*, 6(2), 185-189.
- Woodley, T. H., & Gaskin, D. E. (1996). Environmental characteristics of North Atlantic right and fin whale habitat in the lower Bay of Fundy, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 74(1), 75-84.

- Wells, R. S., Boness, D. L., and Rathburn, G. B. (1999). Behavior. In *Biology of Marine Mammals*, pp. 324 422. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, DC.
- Werth, A. J. (2000). Feeding in marine mammals. *Feeding: form, function and evolution in tetrapod vertebrates*, 475-514.
- Williams, R., Kelly, N., Boebel, O., Friedlaender, A. S., Herr, H., Kock, K. H., ... & Siebert, U. (2014). Counting whales in a challenging, changing environment. *Scientific reports*, 4, 4170.
- Wintle, B. A., Kavanagh, R. P., McCARTHY, M. A., & Burgman, M. A. (2005). Estimating and dealing with detectability in occupancy surveys for forest owls and arboreal marsupials. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 69(3), 905-917.
- Zerbini, A. N., Andriolo, A., Heide-Jørgensen, M. P., Pizzorno, J. L., Maia, Y. G., VanBlaricom, G.
 R., ... & Bethlem, C. (2006). Satellite-monitored movements of humpback whales *Megaptera novaeangliae* in the Southwest Atlantic Ocean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 313, 295-304.
- Zerbini, A. N., Friday, N. A., Palacios, D. M., Waite, J. M., Ressler, P. H., Rone, B. K., ... & Clapham, P. J. (2016). Baleen whale abundance and distribution in relation to environmental variables and prey density in the Eastern Bering Sea. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 134, 312-330.
- Zuur, A. F., Ieno, E. N., & Elphick, C. S. (2010). A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. *Methods in ecology and evolution*, *1*(1), 3-14.
- Zweng, M. M., J. R. Reagan, D. Seidov, T. P. Boyer, R. A. Locarnini, H. E. Garcia, A. V. Mishonov,
 O. K. Baranova, K. Weathers, C. R. Paver, and I. Smolyar, 2018. *World Ocean Atlas 2018, Volume 2: Salinity*. A. Mishonov Technical Ed.; NOAA Atlas NESDIS 82, 50 pp.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to thank everyone involved in this master thesis, but above all, I want to thank Elke Burkhardt and Ahmed El-Gabbas for guiding me through this fascinating yet demanding work. Thank you for all your help, kind supervision and especially your time. Both of you have been very patient at all times,

Elke, thank you so much for making this master thesis possible. It took a while before we knew if data was sufficient, and I am glad it was. It was really worth the wait. I enjoyed identifying whales of the Antarctic and Arctic with you. That was the best job I ever had (and most likely ever will have!).

Ahmed, thank you for helping me so exentsively in R and the whole modelling procedure. I know, I must have been frustrating sometimes, asking the same questions again and again. Now I got it! Thank you for your patience!

Prof. Dr. Hillebrand, thank you so much for participating in this work and being my first supervisor. I am grateful that you agreed on supervising this thesis.

Ilse, thanks for always having "an open Ohr" and giving the right advice at the right time. It helped me a lot during some challenging times.

Thanks to the whole AWI team, you guys rock.

Last but not least, thanks to my mum and my friends, for always coping with me, even in my worst and desperate moments. Especially for the zombie-like last days. I love you.

ERKLÄRUNG

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich diese Arbeit selbstständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe. Außerdem versichere ich, dass ich die allgemeinen Prinzipien wissenschaftlicher Arbeit und Veröffentlichung, wie sie in den Leitlinien guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis der Cal von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg festgelegt sind, befolgt habe.

Oldenburg, den 24.09.2019

Diandra Düngen